# A Cross-Sector Approach to Removing Legal and Policy Barriers to Opioid Agonist Treatment

December 2020





# **CONTENTS**

Executive Summary	2
Introduction	4
Section I. Health Care System	9
Section 2. Criminal Legal System	15
Section 3. Family Law	18
Section 4. Housing	20
Section 5. Zoning	23
Section 6. Transportation	25
Section 7. Education & Youth	28
Section 8. Employment	30
Conclusion	32
References	33

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The opioid overdose epidemic is one of the most urgent public health issues in the United States today, killing nearly 50,000 people every year and contributing to a variety of other health complications. Opioid agonist treatment (OAT) is the provision of medications that activate the opioid receptors to prevent withdrawal and reduce cravings for opioids and is the safest and most effective treatment for people with opioid use disorders. Currently, the two medications approved for OAT are methadone and buprenorphine. Opioid agonist treatment is credited with dramatically reducing risk of opioid overdose deaths and improving other health outcomes.

Despite its demonstrated effectiveness, barriers to OAT access arise in various areas of law and policy, restricting access for many in need. The Network for Public Health Law convened the Cross-Sector Attorneys for Health, a group of more than a dozen public health attorneys seeking to bring cross-cutting areas of legal and policy expertise to address critical public health issues. The group identified the overdose crisis and OAT access as a high priority requiring immediate attention and met monthly over the past 18 months to develop the findings and recommendations in this paper. We hope advocates across different legal and policy areas will utilize it to address OAT access barriers in their areas of work.

This paper identifies barriers to OAT access and potential solutions to improve OAT uptake in eight sectors. We do not represent this document as comprehensive of all that must be done, but we do believe the barriers described are the most significant and the solutions proposed would be the most impactful. The eight sectors and recommendations are as follows:

#### Health Care System

- Repeal or reform the requirements for OAT access through opioid treatment programs.
- Repeal or reform the X waiver requirement for prescribing buprenorphine.
- Ensure state laws are no more strict than federal requirements.
- · Remove insurance barriers to OAT.
- Expand access to and utilization of telehealth.
- Increase connection to OAT in emergency departments.
- Expand the OAT provider workforce and OAT utilization within it.
- Utilize community health workers and peers to assist with access to OAT.
- · Establish medical-legal partnerships.

#### Criminal Legal System

- Decriminalize possession of unprescribed methadone and buprenorphine.
- Expand diversion programs to connect people to OAT.
- Require drug courts and other specialty courts to allow OAT.
- · Facilitate OAT access in jails and prisons.
- Connect individuals reentering the community with OAT providers.
- Reduce returns to incarceration due to probation and parole violations.
- Provide education for legal professionals.

#### Family Law

- · Require family courts to allow OAT access.
- Prohibit custody removals and terminations of parental rights based solely on positive drug tests for OAT.
- · Increase access to family-centered OAT.

#### Housing

- Ease federal and state requirements to evict people for drug possession and use.
- Increase partnerships between homeless service providers and OAT programs.
- Prohibit recovery residences from excluding OAT.
- Support Housing First and permanent supportive housing approaches.
- Allow approval of opioid treatment programs without conditional use permits if emergency demonstrated.

#### Zoning

- Require OAT access as a component in comprehensive development plans.
- Provide for state review of opioid treatment program siting denials.
- Allow approval of opioid treatment programs without conditional use permits if emergency demonstrated.
- · Ensure established law is enforced when necessary.

#### **Transportation**

- · Increase mobile OAT provision.
- Improve access to non-emergency medical transportation to OAT providers.
- Reduce driver's license revocations for reasons unrelated to road safety.
- · Increase public transportation options.

#### **Education & Youth**

- · Reduce federal restrictions on youth methadone access.
- Expand OAT access on college and university campuses.
- Implement screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment for youth.
- Increase research on OAT safety and efficacy in pediatric populations.

#### **Employment**

- Enforce anti-discrimination laws to prevent bars to employment.
- Expand leave allowances to access substance use disorder treatment.
- Increase use of employee assistance programs.

We hope this document will inform and inspire stakeholders to combat barriers that prevent OAT access in their various areas of legal and policy expertise. An all-hands-on-deck approach is needed to address one of the nation's most pressing public health concerns.

# Produced by the Network for Public Health Law in collaboration with the Drug Policy Alliance Support for this report provided by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

#### **AUTHORS:**

Jennifer Bernstein, JD, MPH, Deputy Director, Network for Public Health Law—Mid-States Region Office Catherine Cerulli, JD, PhD, Professor, University of Rochester School of Medicine and Dentistry Corey Davis, JD, MSPH, Deputy Director, Network for Public Health Law—Southeastern Region Office Eric Gorovitz, JD, MPH, Principal, Adler & Colvin

Jill Krueger, JD, Director, Network for Public Health Law-Northern Region Office

Lindsay LaSalle, JD, Managing Director, Policy, Drug Policy Alliance

Donna E. Levin, JD, National Director, Network for Public Health Law

Kerri McGowan Lowrey, JD, MPH, Deputy Director and Director of Grants and Research, Network for Public Health Law—Eastern Region Office

Sara Rogers, MPH, Senior Program Coordinator, Network for Public Health Law

Howard Schneiderman, JD, Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office

Radhika M. Singh, JD, Director, Civil Legal Aid Initiatives, National Legal Aid & Defender Association

John Sobotik, JD, Assistant General Counsel, Wisconsin Department of Transportation

Mark White, JD, Partner, White & Smith, LLC

Leslie Zellers, JD, Consultant, Public Health Policy & Law

Organizational affiliations are included for identification purposes only.

With thanks to Kellen Russoniello, Senior Policy Manager, Drug Policy Alliance for final revisions and special appreciation to Kerri McGowan Lowrey, Deputy Director and Director of Grants and Research, Network for Public Health Law—Eastern Region Office for final editorial review.

## INTRODUCTION

The opioid overdose epidemic is currently one of the most urgent public health issues in the United States. Opioids are a class of drugs that include heroin and some legal prescription pain medications such as oxycodone (Oxycontin<sup>TM</sup>), hydrocodone (Vicodin<sup>TM</sup>), codeine, morphine, and others. Deaths due to overdoses involving opioids have risen sharply over the past two decades. The rate of death from any opioid-involved overdose increased fivefold from 1999 to 2018. Nearly 50,000 people died from overdose involving opioids in 2018, more than any other cause of unintentional death, including car crashes. On average, 130 people die from an overdose involving opioids every day. Since 2013, overdose deaths involving synthetic opioids have exploded, primarily due to fentanyl, a potent opioid that is increasingly mixed in heroin and other drugs. Opioid overdose deaths are a major issue in all areas of the country, though overdose deaths rates are particularly high in rural, predominately white areas in the Midwest, and Black and Indigenous communities are experiencing more rapid rate increases than people of other races.

In addition to overdose, people living with an opioid use disorder are more likely to experience comorbid health conditions, including HIV, Hepatitis C, pneumonia, and tuberculosis. They are also at risk of being arrested and incarcerated due to the criminalization of nonmedical use of opioids and for offenses committed to secure access to more opioids. Incarceration is associated with increased risk of multiple health conditions and with a significantly increased risk of fatal overdose after release. People living with opioid use disorders are also more likely to utilize high-cost health care delivery systems such as the emergency department and inpatient hospital stays. The negative impacts associated with opioid use disorders are experienced not just by the individual, but by their loved ones, their community, and throughout society.

Opioid agonist treatment (OAT) is the safest and most effective method for treating opioid use disorders. OAT is the use of medications that activate the opioid receptors to prevent withdrawal and reduce cravings for opioids. People who have an opioid use disorder can use OAT to stabilize their lives and reduce harms related to their opioid use. Currently, the federal Food and Drug Administration has approved two opioid agonists for opioid use disorder treatment: methadone and buprenorphine. Research spanning more than five decades has consistently demonstrated that these medications:

- Reduce risk of all causes of death, including overdose;
- Reduce use of other opioids;
- Decrease injection drug use;
- Reduce risk of HIV and Hepatitis C transmission;
- Reduce criminal legal system involvement;
- Improve social functioning; and
- Improve quality of life.<sup>10</sup>

People who use OAT are encouraged to access and are connected with other services, including counseling, but research demonstrates that quick access to medications with as few barriers as possible should be the first line of treatment. Doctors treating patients with severe hypertension often supplement medications with advice to change lifestyle habits, including more exercise and better diet, but it would be considered unethical to deny the medication if the patient did not follow the doctor's advice. Similarly, patients seeking OAT should have access without being required to participate in other services, though those services are beneficial for many and should be made available for anyone who wants them.

#### Barriers to Opioid Agonist Treatment

Despite its overwhelming effectiveness, a multitude of structural and policy barriers prevent people with opioid use disorders from accessing OAT. In fact, fewer than half of people with opioid use disorders who enter treatment receive OAT due to stigma and structural barriers. Many of these barriers stem from the purposeful design of a system that only allows access to OAT under severely restrictive circumstances. When prescribed for treating opioid use disorder, methadone and buprenorphine are subject to stricter regulations than any other medications, including opioid painkillers like oxycodone, even though methadone and oxycodone are both Schedule II controlled substances. These regulations are an outgrowth of the stigma against people with substance use disorders and severely hinder treatment access for many in need.

Methadone is a long-acting synthetic opioid agonist. When used in proper doses, methadone relieves withdrawal, reduces opioid cravings, and blocks or reduces the effects of opioids like heroin without creating euphoria, sedation, or analgesic effects. Methadone is classified as a Schedule II controlled substance, which are drugs deemed to have medical uses but have a high potential for abuse that can lead to severe psychological or physical dependence.

Buprenorphine is a long-acting synthetic partial opioid agonist, meaning it does not activate opioid receptors as much as full agonists like methadone. The effects of buprenorphine reach a ceiling, and increasing doses will not produce increasing euphoric or pain-relieving effects. Its limited activation of opioid receptors also means that non-prescription buprenorphine use is less likely than methadone to result in fatal overdose. Like methadone, buprenorphine blocks opioids like heroin from producing their effects. Due to its ceiling impact, buprenorphine is generally most appropriate for patients with less severe opioid use disorders, whereas methadone may be appropriate for all patients with opioid use disorders. Buprenorphine is classified as a Schedule III controlled substance, which are drugs deemed to have medical uses but have a potential for abuse that can lead to moderate or low physical dependence or high psychological dependence.

Methadone is only available through opioid treatment programs that are specially registered with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA).<sup>19</sup> Individuals must satisfy certain criteria to be admitted, and they must comply with strict requirements. Among the most onerous is the need for most patients to come to the opioid treatment program every day to take the methadone under clinical supervision. Subsequent sections of this document examine how other opioid treatment program requirements pose barriers or are exacerbated by laws and policies in other areas.

Buprenorphine may be accessed through an opioid treatment provider with fewer restrictions than methadone or through a physician or certain other health professionals who have obtained a waiver from the DEA to prescribe it from their office (commonly called the X waiver or a DATA 2000 waiver). To obtain the X waiver, the physician or other health professional must meet certain qualifications, generally requiring completion of a minimum number of hours of specialized training. Even when the physician or health professional obtains an X waiver, they are generally limited to providing buprenorphine to only 30 patients in the first year, then 100 patients after at least one year, and 275 patients after at least one year of having a waiver to treat 100 patients. Some providers can prescribe to 100 patients in their first year after obtaining the X waiver if they satisfy certain conditions, but they are still ultimately limited by patient caps. Consequently, the regulatory structures required to provide and access methadone and buprenorphine severely limit their availability for people with opioid use disorders.

This document highlights various policy and legal barriers to OAT access. Brief descriptions of the barriers are followed by policy or legal solutions to improve access. The intent of this document is to identify areas of overlap for professionals who may be experts in areas other than OAT but who want to improve public health and reduce the individual and societal burdens of opioid use disorder.

After a brief description of the Cross-Sector Attorneys for Public Health collaboration and the process it undertook, this document addresses barriers to OAT categorized in eight areas. We emphasize utilizing a cross-sector approach to improve OAT access. Barriers and/or solutions in one area may impact other areas, areas not included in this paper, and other public health issues. Advocates should be mindful of how their work may interface with issues faced in other sectors and should make an effort to work across sectors and expand partnerships to address these issues in a coordinated, impactful manner. The eight areas highlighted in the paper are:

- Health Care System;
- Criminal Legal System;
- Family Law;
- Housing;
- Zoning;
- Transportation;
- Education & Youth; and
- Employment.

#### Stigmatization of Substance Use Disorders

We note that there are many cross-cutting issues that do not fit neatly into one of our delineated areas but that are nonetheless important to highlight. First, many of the barriers addressed and attitudes that inform policies towards OAT arose out of longstanding stigma associated with drug use and people with substance use disorders. The criminalization and demonization of people who use drugs and of entire communities in the name of the war on drugs has resulted in decades of laws, policies, and perceptions that have justified dehumanizing treatment and denials of access to basic necessities, including treatment for the very condition for which people are being shunned. Many of these hostile views reinforce racial and socioeconomic inequalities, with Black, brown, and Indigenous communities bearing the brunt of the negative consequences. Stigma against drug use extends to OAT, which many people see as simply replacing one drug with another. Advocacy should keep this stigma in mind and incorporate effective means of education to change the attitudes that underly policy and prevent new ways of perpetuating stigma.

#### Social and Structural Determinants of Health

Additionally, whether a person develops a substance use disorder, including opioid use disorder, and whether a person will have access to effective treatment is inextricably linked to social and structural determinants of health, factors about where a person lives and works and what communities they belong to that can directly impact their health status. Inequities created and reinforced through prejudicial distribution of money, power, and resources manifest through disparities in access to affordable housing, education, economic opportunity, nutritional food, and health and social services. In turn, these disparities negatively impact individual and community health through a variety of means, including through increased risk of medical problems and lack of access to health services. Disparities tend to be most pronounced in communities of color and in non-urban areas, signifying that special attention should be paid to ensure the health needs of these communities are addressed.

One determinant of health that is particularly important in the context of substance use disorders is having an adverse childhood experience, a stressful or traumatic event experienced during childhood. The correlation between having one or more adverse childhood experiences and developing health conditions is well-established. Adverse childhood experiences are associated with use of drugs at an earlier age and a higher risk of developing a substance use disorder throughout a lifetime. Research also suggests a correlation between a high number of adverse childhood experiences and an increased likelihood of relapse during or following substance use disorder treatment. However, a recent study among 87 adult patients accessing OAT and counseling showed that the likelihood of relapse declined with each treatment, suggesting OAT may be an effective way to address some of the health effects of adverse childhood experiences. To truly address the public health crisis associated with opioid use, we must collectively address social and structural determinants of health, including adverse childhood experiences, that increase risk of developing a substance use disorder and simultaneously restrict access for disadvantaged populations.

#### **COVID-19 and Access to Opioid Agonist Treatment**

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in enormous changes to almost every aspect of life, including access to substance use disorder treatment. Fatal overdoses are rising sharply during the pandemic. Federal and state governments have responded to the needs of the public health emergency by increasing access to opioid agonist treatment in several temporary ways, including:

- Allowing new patients to begin buprenorphine treatment without an in-person examination:
- Allowing existing methadone and buprenorphine patients to meet with their provider using telehealth;
- Increasing take-home medication allowances:
- · Allowing for delivery of medication to isolated patients' residences; and
- Allowing opioid treatment providers to use the same off-site mobile location to provide take-home medication without separately registering that location with the DEA.

We highlight these changes in the following sections as they relate to barriers and solutions that we recommend for permanently increasing opioid agonist treatment access.

#### **Cross-Sector Information Sharing**

Finally, limited sharing of information across different sectors may serve as a barrier to ensuring streamlined access to health services, including OAT. Federal and state laws govern the sharing of data to protect individuals' privacy; however, misinformation about what laws actually require may limit the sharing of data unnecessarily in some cases. Although education to improve data sharing when appropriate to streamline access to care while protecting privacy should be a priority, specific recommendations in this area are outside the scope of this document.

Advocates can use this document to educate themselves on the various barriers to OAT and determine which solutions to prioritize given their diverse expertise in the areas covered. It will take the dedication of stakeholders with a variety of experiences, including those directly impacted by opioid use disorder, to effectively address all the barriers that prevent OAT access. Nothing less is needed to address one of the nation's most pressing public health concerns.

#### Cross-Sector Attorneys for Health: The role of a cross-sector approach

Cross-sector collaboration is paramount to tackling the major public health issues of today. In 2018, the Network for Public Health Law convened a group of more than a dozen attorneys working in different sectors, such as transportation, urban planning, mental health, drug policy, and civil rights. The collaborative sought to bring cross-cutting areas of legal and policy expertise to identify opportunities and challenges for improving health and to address critical public health issues.

Public health issues traditionally are addressed within silos such as health institutions, courts, schools, social services, and state and local health departments. The Cross-Sector Attorneys for Health collaborative created a forum where attorneys across sectors could come together to discuss public health issues from varied legal perspectives. Through the course of our collaboration we realized that we are better able to create workable solutions when attorneys from different sectors partner with one another.

For example, a community's zoning policy may impose structural constraints that affect strategies to address a wide range of public health issues: the placement of substance use disorder treatment centers (opioid addiction), access to parks and other recreational facilities (obesity), exposure to ambient pollutants (asthma), or the number of shelter beds (domestic violence, homelessness). By having land-use attorneys partner with attorneys with expertise in other areas, we can see issues from a range of perspectives and are better able to create workable solutions. Public health attorneys also can partner with advocates to improve the effectiveness of a community campaign and to ensure that proposed legal and policy solutions are tailored to the community's actual needs.

In 2019, the Cross-Sector Attorneys for Health collaborative chose to focus on the topic of removing legal and policy barriers to opioid agonist treatment, recognizing that this public health issue is both significant and affected in some way by many different sectors. The group recognized that attorneys in each of these sectors can play an important role in improving access to opioid agonist treatment and reducing stigma associated with drug use. Over the past 18 months, the group met monthly to identify and propose solutions for the broad range of legal barriers that could interfere with effective access to opioid agonist treatment, with each attorney bringing to bear the expertise and knowledge from his or her own area of practice. The result of our collaboration is this white paper. While our menu of solutions is not comprehensive, it represents a multifaceted approach to the problem, with a particular focus on health equity and social justice. The paper highlights proposals that have the greatest potential for across-the-board success in increasing access to effective treatment for those that want and need it.

In the future, the collaborative will continue to meet to share expertise and develop resources on other public health law issues.

Cross-sector collaboration is paramount to tackling the major public health issues of today. Cross-Sector Attorneys for Health is a cross-disciplinary group of attorneys that seeks to bring cross-cutting areas of legal and policy expertise to identify opportunities and challenges for improving health.

## **Section 1. Health Care System**

People living with substance use needs often encounter barriers to treatment that are perpetuated by the health care system itself. This is particularly true for people trying to access OAT because it is far more heavily regulated than medications and treatments for most other health conditions. The opioid treatment program (OTP) and X waiver requirements are a result of the stigma directed at people with substance use disorders by society, including by health care providers. These regulatory structures significantly restrict access to OAT by those who could benefit from it and further perpetuate stigma.

In addition, people with substance use needs experience other common barriers to the health care system, including shortage of providers, lack of flexible options for seeing providers, care that is not tailored to specific cultural needs, insurance restrictions, and affordability concerns. This section addresses some of the most pertinent barriers to OAT access embedded in the health care system and offers solutions for each.

# Recommendation 1.1—Repeal or reform the requirements for OAT access through opioid treatment programs.

People who may benefit from methadone can only do so through DEA-registered OTPs and must comply with strict requirements. These include coming daily to the OTP to receive a dose of medication under supervision for new patients, participating in counseling services, and submitting to random drug tests. Noncompliance can result in dismissal from treatment. Patients can only start to "earn" take-home doses after three months of daily attendance, gradually increasing the amount of take-home medication allowance to a maximum of one month after two years of continuous treatment. Because OTPs generally exist outside of mainstream healthcare systems, their services often are not covered by insurance, meaning many individuals who access methadone have to pay for it out of their pocket.

Of course, these are only issues for people in areas where an OTP exists. Some regions of the country do not have an OTP or existing OTPs are far from where many in need reside. For example, as of the time of this writing, not a single OTP operates in Wyoming, and only one exists in South Dakota. The OTP structure limits access by only allowing specialized, often non-mainstream health providers to provide methadone and to do so in a highly regulated, stigmatizing way that presents often insurmountable barriers for people in dire need.

The simplest way to expand access to methadone would be to eliminate the requirements to receive it through an OTP. Standing OTPs could continue to operate but ending the requirement that people receive services through one of these establishments would allow all providers with current DEA-registration for prescribing controlled substances to prescribe methadone. This could vastly increase access points for methadone, especially in areas where there are no or few OTPs. It would also allow individuals to fill a prescription at community pharmacies, which tend to be more accessible than OTPs. Eliminating the OTP requirements would mean individuals do not need to come daily to receive their dose of medication. Instead, they could receive a prescription and use methadone like any other prescription medication at home, reducing transportation issues and interference with employment and education. Allowing access through mainstream health care providers would also likely lead to an increase in private insurance coverage of these services, alleviating financial burdens to patients. Finally, it would allow people more freedom to choose providers who can accommodate their counseling needs. Although counseling is beneficial for many, providing medication alone results in significant health benefits, and requirements to attend counseling deter some from accessing treatment.<sup>23</sup>

Short of repealing the requirements to receive methadone through an OTP, several steps could be taken to increase access through established OTPs. The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) can relax regulations that restrict take-home medications, allowing people to attend in-person less frequently. In fact, SAMHSA has temporarily done this in response to the COVID-19 public health emergency and the need to limit in-person congregations. The DEA and SAMHSA could also update regulations to allow community pharmacies to dispense methadone. Many people would have an easier time accessing OAT through a pharmacy than through an OTP, because pharmacies tend to be more integrated into communities.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration (SAMHSA) issued emergency authorizations allowing opioid treatment providers to dispense up to 28 days of medication to patients it considers "stable" and up to 14 days' worth for patients considered "less stable." The agency could make these changes permanent, ensuring increased access to take-home medications after the pandemic ends. The same logic behind increasing take-home medication allowances during the pandemic also supports allowing people to obtain their medication from a community pharmacy. In-person contact is reduced when people do not need to congregate at the same time at an opioid treatment provider, and travel distance to a pharmacy is likely shorter than to an opioid treatment provider, which is important during the enforcement of stay-at-home orders.

#### Recommendation 1.2—Repeal or reform the X waiver requirement for prescribing buprenorphine.

Physicians and certain other health professionals who have completed the required training to obtain an X waiver can prescribe buprenorphine for treating opioid use disorder outside of an OTP, but they are restricted to serving only a limited number of patients. The X waiver is an unnecessary burden that stigmatizes OAT and limits the number of professionals able to provide it. Providers who treat other health conditions are not subject to patient limits, and no other medication requires a special waiver.

The tight restrictions that the X waiver requirements impose on buprenorphine reflect an exaggerated fear of diversion that further drives stigma. SAMHSA has admitted that diversion and adverse clinical events associated with the X waiver have been minimal, while the initial 30-patient limit has contributed to the low number of physicians prescribing buprenorphine. Recognizing that the patient cap limits access, SAMHSA raised the limit in 2016 to 275 patients for X-waivered providers who have been authorized to provide to 100 patients for at least one year. While a positive step, the cap still limits access and the X waiver requirements deter new providers from prescribing buprenorphine.

The Office of the Inspector General for the Department of Health and Human Services recently found that although the number of X-waivered providers has greatly increased in the past five years, about two-thirds of counties either have low or no patient capacity to provide buprenorphine, including more than half of counties identified to have high treatment needs. The report also found that nearly three quarters of X-waivered providers can only serve 30 patients. Unsurprisingly, access is more limited in rural areas. Even where providers exist, real-world access may lag behind potential capacity. Studies have shown that many X-waivered providers do not prescribe to their patient limit for a variety of reasons, including stigma, insurance obstacles, and lack of support.

Congress should eliminate the X waiver requirements and allow health providers to prescribe buprenorphine outside of OTPs without having to receive additional training. Providers should not have a limit to how many patients they can serve. Removing the X waiver will help to reduce stigma and potentially increase access to providers, as all otherwise qualified providers would be able to prescribe the medication. Educational efforts should continue to increase the number of providers actually prescribing buprenorphine.

Short of repealing the X waiver requirements, the federal government can take several steps to reform the requirements and increase access to buprenorphine. Congress could eliminate the patient caps to allow all X-waivered providers to provide to as many patients as they are able. Congress or SAMHSA through regulation could increase the caps for X-waivered providers, no matter how long they have been waivered.

While the X waiver requirements remain, federal agencies can allocate resources to increase the number of X-waivered providers, particularly in rural and other underserved areas, and to increase utilization of buprenorphine for already X-waivered providers. This may require addressing other barriers to utilization, including reimbursement and other insurance barriers. Targeting efforts to high need, low capacity areas may yield high returns in terms of access.

#### Recommendation 1.3—Ensure state laws are no more strict than federal requirements.

Many states have statutes and/or regulations that restrict access to OAT beyond what federal law requires. These can come in a variety of barriers, including requiring adults who seek OAT to experience multiple documented failures at detoxification treatment, increasing the minimum amount of documented time demonstrating addiction, limiting what type of facilities can become OTPs, establishing burdensome OTP application requirements, and capping the number of OTP providers that can operate in the state. States could eliminate any additional barriers to OAT access by reforming statutes and regulations to be uniform with, and not go beyond, the requirements of federal law. California recently finalized new regulations removing state-imposed barriers that limited OTP access beyond what is required by federal regulations.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, states should fully adopt guidance from the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration (SAMHSA) and the DEA allowing increased use of take-home medication. In Ohio, the state has capped take-home methadone allowances to 14 days, despite guidance from SAMHSA authorizing up to 28 days' worth for patients deemed "stable." Policies like this that unnecessarily restrict access could be reformed to promote safety and access to medications during the public health emergency.

#### Recommendation 1.4—Remove insurance barriers to OAT.

Private and public health insurance plans vary in the way they treat OAT medications, including whether and what medications are covered and on what cost-sharing tier. If OAT is not covered, or covered but requires significant out-of-pocket costs, utilization will be limited due to afford-ability. Further, insurers may require prior authorization for beneficiaries to begin OAT. Insurers use prior authorization requirements in an effort to encourage lower-cost options before more expensive options are used. However, these requirements often delay access to treatment and result in patients falling out of care because of withdrawal from treatment or relapse. The American Medical Association has called for the elimination of prior authorization requirements for OAT, and some major insurers have announced plans to eliminate prior authorization requirements for OAT. In addition, some states have negotiated with private insurers to reduce prior authorizations. However, there remain insurers and states that still require prior authorization before OAT prescription. The prescription of the private insurers and states that still require prior authorization before OAT prescription.

States can enact legislation that requires private and public insurance to cover OAT and to do so on the lowest cost-sharing tier. States could also use regulatory action to ensure that their Medicaid programs provide coverage for these medications. Further, state legislation can prohibit private and public health insurers from requiring prior authorizations before covering OAT. When a person is ready to access treatment, it is important that insurance does not impose any barriers that would delay or deny treatment.

As of April 2020, 17 states have enacted laws limiting state-regulated commercial health insurance plans from imposing prior authorizations on opioid agonist treatment, and 13 states and the District of Columbia limit Medicaid from doing so.<sup>34</sup>

#### Recommendation 1.5—Expand access to and utilization of telehealth.

Telehealth refers to the use of technology to support clinical health care over distances. Technologies used include videoconferencing, telephone, and store-and-forward imaging, which allows for the electronic transmission of medical information via secure email connection. Telehealth represents an important opportunity to increase access to individuals who have difficulty with transportation or otherwise attending in-person appointments, including many who live in rural or provider-shortage areas. Telehealth can be used to increase access to OAT, and the recent COVID-19 pandemic has further highlighted its potential value.

In general, federal law requires health care providers to conduct an in-person medical evaluation prior to an initial prescription for a controlled substance. Due to social distancing requirements of COVID-19, the DEA and SAMHSA have waived this in-person requirement for new buprenorphine patients, allowing them to begin treatment after consultation with a provider by video teleconference or telephone. Waiving the in-person requirement has the possibility to vastly increase access in underserved areas, as people who live there can now receive treatment through providers who do not provide in-person services near them. However, SAMHSA has clarified that new methadone patients still need to complete an in-person examination, putting themselves and providers at risk of COVID-19 transmission. The agency's rationale is that that patients cannot receive escalating doses of methadone for induction as take-home medication, because it may result in people being given "subtherapeutic doses" for an extended period. However, SAMHSA could use its emergency powers to waive this requirement as it has done with buprenorphine requirements, allowing patients to begin methadone treatment without an in-person examination. SAMHSA has encouraged OAT providers to use telehealth for care with established methadone and buprenorphine patients.

The temporary changes made to ensure access to opioid agonist treatment during the COVID-19 pandemic could be made permanent. The allowance to use telehealth more widely has resulted in major increases in access to opioid agonist treatment, especially for buprenorphine. To restrict that access after the pandemic ends would be counterproductive and unethical. In addition, the in-person examination requirement for methadone could be waived, just as it has been for buprenorphine. The rationale to limit in-person contact applies to people who would benefit from methadone as well, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration has the authority to make this possible.

States should follow the federal government's lead and reduce statutory and regulatory barriers to OAT and other health services via telehealth during the pandemic and beyond. States should also make permanent any necessary changes to allow reimbursement for telehealth services through Medicaid and Medicare programs. Federal and state governments should also work together to craft practical, lasting solutions to ensure the privacy and security of personal health information and to address health care provider licensure when telehealth arrangements would cross state lines.

To truly make telehealth accessible, federal and state governments should ensure that low-income communities have access to technology that will make telehealth possible. This can be supported through subsidies for mobile devices and broadband internet infrastructure and services. Agencies should ramp up education efforts for existing programs that provide discounted access, including the Lifeline program administered by the Federal Communications Commission and the Distance Learning and Telemedicine grant program administered by the Department of Agriculture.<sup>39</sup>

#### Recommendation 1.6—Increase connection to OAT in emergency departments.

People living with opioid use disorders (OUDs) often receive emergency department services due to overdose or other acute health conditions related to their use. However, very few patients presenting in emergency departments with symptoms of OUDs are connected with substance use disorder (SUD) services, including OAT access. A 2018 study of Massachusetts emergency departments showed that between 2012 and 2014, only 13 percent of patients who overdosed and were revived by emergency medical services or in an emergency department received buprenorphine in the 12 months after a non-fatal overdose. This occurs despite research that offering buprenorphine initiation to patients presenting in emergency departments has been shown to increase treatment engagement and reduce self-reported illicit opioid use and inpatient SUD treatment. The missed connection to OAT can precede tragedy: more than 5 percent of patients treated in a Massachusetts emergency department for an opioid overdose between 2011 and 2015 died within a year of that treatment.

In response, many jurisdictions are requiring or encouraging emergency departments to provide connection to OAT and other services for people who present with opioid-related harm. Policymakers should support these efforts through increased funding and by removing any barriers to implementation, including assuring adequate reimbursement for rendering these services in emergency departments.

Massachusetts enacted a law that requires emergency departments to have the capacity to initiate opioid agonist treatment after treating an opioid-related overdose and connect the patient to continuing care prior to discharge. In California, the CA Bridge initiative seeks to make buprenorphine accessible in emergency departments and all other hospital departments across the state.

#### Recommendation 1.7 - Expand the OAT provider workforce and OAT utilization within it.

There are far too few providers available to prescribe OAT, resulting in a gap between those in need and access. The recommendations described above concerning reforms to the OTP and X waiver requirements (1.1 and 1.2) would increase the pool of available providers, but further outreach and education are needed to increase OAT utilization in all health care settings.

Although patients may seek help from a primary care doctor rather than an addiction specialist, many primary care physicians lack addiction training and do not feel qualified to provide or even begin treatment, even if they would like to. Equally problematic, some studies have found that only about one-third of X-waivered providers surveyed prescribe buprenorphine. There are several reasons for this reluctance. Provider stigma surrounding drug use and addiction, to which the X waiver requirement itself may contribute, deters providers from prescribing buprenorphine. Payment issues are another concern, including whether the provider will encounter insurance barriers like prior authorization requirements (see Recommendation 1.4). Providers also tend to be concerned with inadequate clinic space, limited time, and not enough support staff.

Stigma can be reduced in part through widespread education and exposure to SUD issues for populations that may not be familiar with these disorders, including medical students and students in other health-related professions. Medical, nursing, and physician assistant schools should integrate addiction medicine into their curricula and increase the number of fellowships and residencies that specialize in addiction medicine. Every new graduate should have the basic training needed to identify a potential SUD and know how to respond to a patient that presents SUD symptoms. Policymakers can support these goals through increased funding or educational mandates.

Educating primary care and emergency department doctors and staff members about appropriate SUD services, including OAT, is critical. Hospitals and clinics should make it standard practice for their providers to obtain X waivers and compensate them for doing so. Primary care clinics and emergency departments in particular should encourage and create incentives for their staff to obtain the certification, and further provide the administrative support to actively prescribe buprenorphine. Federal and state policymakers can encourage providers to obtain X waivers by allocating funding and directing agencies to provide education to potential providers.

The University of Pennsylvania offered to pay for online X-waiver training for its physicians and sent emails encouraging completion. As of early 2019, roughly 75 percent of full-time emergency staff at Penn had obtained the X waiver.<sup>50</sup>

Congress and state governments could also financially support providers willing to practice addiction medicine. A loan forgiveness program, for example, in exchange for a period of this specialized service, could inspire a new generation to accept the challenge of providing SUD services, including OAT. The National Health Service Corps offers the Substance Use Disorder Workforce Loan Repayment Program for health professionals with student loans who work in the SUD field. Innovative programs like this should be expanded and replicated.

#### Recommendation 1.8-Utilize community health workers and peers to assist with access to OAT.

Many people with SUD have complex physical and mental health needs and lack medical insurance, stable housing, and family support. These factors can dramatically reduce patients' abilities to attend appointments, make pharmacy visits, and maintain a care regimen, including medication and OAT adherence. Community health workers (CHWs) are well-connected community members, often with lived experience with SUD or other health conditions themselves, who can link people with SUD needs with appropriate health and social services and greatly enhance their continuity of care.

Despite evidence that CHWs can improve health conditions and improve patient autonomy for many health conditions, CHWs are not generally paid for by mainstream healthcare funding streams and tend to rely on a patchwork of funding sources. Some healthcare providers have partnered with health insurance entities to "bundle" care. This way of paying for services gives the provider a lump sum of money to improve care, some of which can be used to employ CHWs. Other states have provided for Medicaid reimbursement of peer services, which could serve as a sustainable source of funding for CHWs.

State governments and insurance companies should incentivize utilization of CHWs and peers to facilitate access to health services, including OAT, for vulnerable populations. This could be done through payment models that allow providers spending flexibility or through direct reimbursement mechanisms for CHW and peer services. Investing in these services will increase utilization and continuity of care for populations with serious health needs, leading to better health and economic outcomes.

#### Recommendation 1.9—Establish medical-legal partnerships.

Health providers have realized that many of the people who come to them for services are dealing with social issues that negatively impact their health but are outside the provider's ability to intervene. The person's health needs may result from other social determinants of health, and the provider is often only able to help address the medical manifestations of the health-harming social needs of that individual. Frustrated with treating the aftermath of these issues, creative health providers have partnered with civil legal service providers to form medical-legal partnerships (MLPs). An MLP "is a collaborative intervention that embeds civil legal aid professionals in health care settings to address seemingly intractable social problems that contribute to poor health outcomes and health disparities." <sup>54</sup>

MLPs can help to uncover underlying issues that contribute to adverse health outcomes, including lack of housing, access to food, and discrimination. For people who benefit from OAT, MLPs can help to ensure that they are not discriminated against in housing, employment, or otherwise. Some MLPs also confront criminal issues, including outstanding charges related to an individual's SUD with the intent to address medical, mental health, and social needs and reduce criminal legal system involvement.

Policymakers should support and fund the formation of MLPs. Health insurance, hospitals, and civil legal service providers should collaborate to form MLPs to improve the health of their populations and ultimately reduce health care costs.<sup>55</sup>

## **Section 2. Criminal Legal System**

Many people with SUDs have been involved in the criminal legal system, largely due to increased enforcement of laws prohibiting drug possession (particularly in communities of color) and behaviors that some people undertake to support an addiction. Nearly two-thirds of incarcerated people have a diagnosable SUD. Involvement in the criminal legal system is associated with negative health outcomes, both for the individual and their family and community. It is also the strongest predictor of whether an individual will have subsequent involvement with the criminal legal system, highlighting why it is important to prevent initial involvement. Unfortunately, the criminal legal system has taken on the role of intervenor for many people living with substance use needs.

This is worrisome given the system's explicit focus on punishment and often hostile views of people with SUDs and OAT, despite evidence that OAT reduces further involvement with the criminal legal system. Many people with SUDs who enter the criminal legal system are not connected with treatment at all or are not afforded access to OAT. Below we examine barriers that present at various levels of the criminal legal system and offer solutions to address them and link people to OAT.

# Recommendation 2.1—Decriminalize possession of unprescribed methadone and buprenorphine.

As this paper highlights, there are numerous barriers that make access to OAT extremely difficult for many. Because of these barriers, some people buy the medications on the street instead of going through the sanctioned channels to receive methadone or buprenorphine. Doing so is illegal and can result in arrest and a charge of illicit drug possession. However, research demonstrates that most people who obtain methadone or buprenorphine without a prescription do so in an attempt to treat their own OUD, not for pleasure or resale. Instead of criminalizing people for self-medicating when legal access is so restricted, policymakers could decrease the barriers that make it so difficult to access OAT in the first place. Arresting and prosecuting people for unprescribed methadone or buprenorphine possession punishes them for trying to address their health needs and disrupts any stability they gained while using the medications.

#### Recommendation 2.2—Expand diversion programs to connect people with OAT.

An encounter with law enforcement presents an opportunity to divert a person with substance use needs away from incarceration and prosecution and towards services more suited to address their underlying health issues. The goal should be to divert people out of the criminal legal system at the earliest opportunity, ideally prior to arrest or booking. Unfortunately, diversion programs still tend to rely on the criminal legal system as the point of access to health services. Accordingly, these programs should serve as an adjunct to expansion of mobile health services and other points of access in the community that are mentioned elsewhere in this paper. Further, funding for these programs should primarily or entirely be allocated to service providers, not law enforcement.

The Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion program that began in Seattle diverts people arrested for low-level drug and sex work offenses to health and social services, including opioid agonist treatment prior to booking them into jail. The program has resulted in significant reductions in criminal legal system involvement among participants and associated costs while improving participant social outcomes. Example 2.5 The program is social associated costs while improving participant social outcomes.

#### Recommendation 2.3—Require drug courts and other specialty courts to allow OAT.

Research published in 2012 found that less than half of drug courts surveyed nationwide made OAT available to individuals going through the drug court program. Of those that did, methadone was much less likely to be made available than buprenorphine. The number of drug courts allowing OAT may have increased after the federal Bureau of Justice Assistance stopped providing funds to drug courts that deny access to federally approved medications for addiction treatment in 2015. However, many drug courts and specialty courts (courts designed to address underlying social problems or for specific populations, such as veterans) across the country still deny access to OAT for people in their programs, including people who were on methadone or buprenorphine prior to entering a program.

Denying OAT to people in drug and specialty court programs runs counter to the evidence of the health benefits of OAT, the advice of drug courts' own professional organization, and likely violates disability laws. Drug and specialty courts should remove any bans on OAT and facilitate access for any individual who may benefit. States can ensure this by enacting legislation requiring access to OAT in all courts. Further, defense and civil rights attorneys should work together to identify when denials to OAT access occur and challenge them as violating state and federal disability laws.

#### Recommendation 2.4—Facilitate OAT access in jails and prisons.

Whereas OAT access in drug courts is limited, access in jails and prisons is even more so. Only a handful of jails and prisons across the country allow access to OAT (except for pregnant women), even for people who had previously been on OAT prior to incarceration. The vast majority of jails and prisons have strict policies that require withdrawal from any substances, including OAT, despite evidence that providing OAT during incarceration improves health and criminal legal system outcomes. Additionally, denying OAT likely violates disability laws, subjecting jails and prisons to liability.

Federal and state government agencies that oversee prison systems can implement rules requiring OAT access in all facilities. Because jails are typically operated by localities, action by state oversight bodies or legislation could be the most streamlined route to ensure OAT access in jails.

A model program can be found in Rhode Island, where the state began providing opioid agonist treatment in its unified jail and prison system in 2016. This program was credited with dramatically reducing overdose deaths for people after release.

#### Recommendation 2.5—Connect individuals reentering the community with OAT providers.

The risk of death due to overdose is up to 12 times higher for people leaving incarceration. Connecting people with necessary health services upon release is crucial to improving health outcomes and reducing returns to the criminal legal system. However, coordination between jails and prisons and health providers in the community is rare and disjointed where it does occur. Streamlining connections to care is important so that people can continue on needed medications, including OAT, and address critical needs during an often-tumultuous transition.

Jails and prisons should work with incarcerated people and community providers to ensure a plan is in place for when a person is about to return to the community. These plans should consider how a person with substance use needs will access services, including OAT. State and local governments should encourage these types of programs and work with community providers to ensure immediate connection to health services, including OAT, for people leaving incarceration.

The Transitions Clinic Network is a network of primary health providers who specialize in care for people with chronic health conditions returning to the community after incarceration. People who are connected with Transitions Clinic Network programs tend to have fewer emergency department visits and hospitalizations compared to those who were not connected.<sup>71</sup>

#### Recommendation 2.6—Reduce returns to incarceration due to probation and parole violations.

Nearly half of state prison admissions nationwide are due to probation and parole violations, and nearly one quarter are due to technical violations alone. A technical violation is an act deemed in violation of the terms of supervision but that does not itself constitute a crime (e.g., missing an appointment or testing positive for drugs or alcohol). Incarcerations based on probation and parole violations can take people who may have been relatively stable and return them to the chaotic environment of jail or prison, potentially disrupting any healthcare regimen they are on. Disruption of OAT, in particular, is likely because it is largely unavailable in jails and prisons. While OAT reduces risk of relapse, SUDs are chronic health conditions where relapse is common. Returning someone to incarceration for a relapse disrupts connection to treatment providers and can negate positive progress made.

With the threat of COVID-19 heightened in correctional facilities, some jurisdictions are rethinking incarceration for probation and parole violations. In New York, the governor ordered the releases of more than 1,000 people incarcerated on technical violations. A coalition of probation and parole chiefs issued a call for states and counties to suspend or severely limit incarcerating people for technical violations during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Federal, state, and local governments could limit returns to jail or prison based on probation and parole violations, especially for technical violations where the person has not committed a new offense. Instead, individuals could be afforded additional support to address their needs and improve stability. While individual agencies could implement their own policies, legislation may be a more efficient tool to ensure all the probation agencies within a state minimize the practice of sending people back to jail or prison for violations. This recommendation is especially timely given the high risk of exposure to COVID-19 in correctional facilities and the corresponding desire to diminish the prison population.

#### Recommendation 2.7—Provide education for legal professionals.

As with the other areas included in this paper, misinformation and stigma around OAT in the criminal legal system present a barrier to access. Judges may decide that they will not allow people in their court to use OAT. Prosecutors may argue that people using OAT are not following court orders to remain drug free. Defense attorneys may not know about OAT and how to advocate for a client that benefits or could benefit from it.

Educating legal professionals could help to reduce stigma and increase OAT utilization among people involved in the criminal legal system. Similarly, education regarding substance use disorders could help to reduce violations and returns to incarceration upon relapse, as judges and prosecutors may be more understanding that relapse is to be expected. Some organizations have provided educational materials for legal professionals. For example, The National Center for State Courts has accumulated several resources for educating judges on OAT, and the Legal Action Center has developed resources for defense attorneys.<sup>77</sup>

## **Section 3. Family Law**

In addition to the criminal legal system, people with SUDs often interact with the civil legal system. In particular, people with SUDs may confront family law issues, including interpersonal violence, parental rights and custody, and child support. Decisions made in family courts can often be harmful to individuals with SUDs and to their families, especially young children who can be removed from their parent's custody.

Family court could be an access point for treatment, including OAT, to assist people in addressing their family law issues. Although many family courts around the nation are creating specialty courts that focus on addressing underlying issues, including SUDs, people with SUDs may confront new barriers to OAT access when involved in family law issues. Below, we present some barriers and solutions to improve OAT access in family courts.

#### Recommendation 3.1—Require family courts to allow OAT access.

Similar to criminal courts, many family courts impose prohibitions on OAT for people in their programs. This may even require people who were accessing OAT prior to their case to stop their treatment. Denying OAT to people in family court runs counter to the evidence of the health benefits of OAT, the advice of family courts' own professional organization, and likely violates disability laws. Family courts should remove any bans on OAT and facilitate access for any individual who may benefit. States can ensure this by enacting legislation requiring access to OAT in all courts. Further, family law and civil rights attorneys should work together to identify when denials to OAT access occur and challenge them as violating state and federal disability laws.

Recommendation 3.2—Prohibit custody removals and terminations of parental rights based solely on positive drug tests for OAT.

Family courts often use positive drug tests to support orders that remove children from a parent's custody and/or terminate parental rights, despite the absence of evidence demonstrating any causal link between parental drug use and child maltreatment. Judges have ordered these consequences based on the parent's use of OAT, even when lawfully prescribed. This harmful practice, which is generally based more on a positive drug test than on any demonstrated harm to the child, results in trauma to the parent and child and can precipitate negative health consequences, including increased substance use.

Family courts could ensure they do not use positive drug tests as the sole basis for custody removal or terminating parental rights, especially where the indicated substance is a legally prescribed medication for SUD. State laws could explicitly prohibit this practice and provide guidance on appropriate factors to consider for custody and parental rights determinations. Federal and state agencies could issue guidance to courts indicating that positive drug tests alone, especially for OAT, should not be used as grounds for custody removal or termination of parental rights. Federal and state attorneys general should enforce disability laws to ensure parents are not facing negative family law consequences for utilizing OAT.

#### Recommendation 3.3—Increase access to family-centered OAT.

The need to find childcare can be an additional barrier for parents with SUDs, which can be especially difficult when parents are required to report daily to receive methadone and are subject to additional legal requirements of family court orders. Approaches that incorporate the special needs of parents and pregnant women are needed to ensure OAT access for these people.

In a growing number of states, evidence-based child development and parenting skills education has become an important component of OAT, as a means of increasing adult engagement and preventing adverse childhood experiences in the next generation. However, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services found that only 11 states have statewide initiatives that incorporated family-centered treatment, and only six of those have family-centered OAT programs specifically for pregnant or parenting women. Many of these programs are funded through grants or as pilots, though some utilize Medicaid funding.

An initiative to provide family-centered opioid agonist treatment to pregnant and parenting women in Ohio resulted in higher utilization of such treatment and lower instances of maltreatment.<sup>84</sup>

More states should identify providing family-centered OAT to pregnant and parenting women as a priority and develop plans for increasing access. States should seek federal approval to use Medicaid to pay for these services, including the use of flexible funding streams to pay for the services best suited for this population.

## **Section 4. Housing**

Homelessness and lack of access to safe and stable housing is a serious and longstanding concern. On a single night in 2019, approximately 568,000 people were experiencing homelessness in the United States. Both Black and Latinx people are more likely than white people to experience homelessness, reflecting longstanding structural inequalities including but not limited to criminal legal policy, housing policy, unequitable distribution of wealth, and access to prevention and treatment services.

The relationship between SUDs and housing is complex. Having an SUD is associated with loss of housing, becoming homeless at an earlier age, and being homeless for a longer period of time. Lack of housing hinders an individual's ability to successfully engage in SUD treatment and makes it more difficult for a person with an SUD to maintain successful recovery. Because relapse is common, drug use can prevent an individual with an SUD from accessing or maintaining housing. Laws and policies that restrict individuals who have or have had an SUD from accessing stable housing can contribute to harm among individuals with SUD and those in recovery, further reducing economic opportunity and health outcomes in a vicious cycle.

People experiencing homelessness are particularly susceptible to harms related to substance use, including overdose and transmission of HIV and Hepatitis C virus. In Boston, for example, overdose is the leading cause of death among homeless adults, with the risk of death due to overdose up to 24 times higher than the general population.

Access to stable housing is an important determinant of whether people with SUDs receive evidence-based treatment, including OAT. Individuals are more likely to engage with OAT when they are stably housed, and conversely, OAT tends to increase housing stability. It is critical to increase access to OAT for people with SUDs experiencing homelessness to reduce harms of use and increase likelihood of securing stable housing.

Unfortunately, many laws and policies make it harder for people with SUD and those in recovery to access stable housing. Below are some prominent barriers and solutions advocates could undertake to address them. In addition to these, people experiencing homelessness may be less likely to access OAT due to perceived or real discrimination when they interact with health care providers. Many have had previous negative experiences and may distrust providers. These barriers are not unique to people experiencing homelessness and are addressed in Section I on barriers in health care.

Recommendation 4.1 — Ease federal and state requirements to evict people for drug possession and use.

Federal law requires leases for federally subsidized public housing to include clauses that state that "any drug-related criminal activity," whether or not it occurs on the premises, "shall be cause for termination of tenancy." This restrictive rule extends not only to the renter but also to any member of their household, which may create a barrier not only for a person in recovery accessing public housing themselves, but also to their ability to stay with a friend or family member. Some state laws also allow evictions based on leaseholder, household member, or guest activities involving drugs.

For people with SUDs, including those using OAT, relapse is expected. Due to these severe housing restrictions, many people who are using OAT in public housing can be evicted and lose their stability. Importantly, because people are more likely to access OAT if they are stably housed, evicting people for using drugs will make access to OAT less likely. Although the federal government has provided some protections from evictions during the COVID-19 pandemic, these do not apply to evictions based on drug use, and people may still be evicted for this reason.<sup>53</sup>

Federal, state, and local restrictions on the use of drugs in public housing could be eased. As relapse is an expected part of treatment, such policies discriminate against individuals with SUD, interfere with access to OAT, and threaten to remove stability that could increase risk of harm. Further, rules leading to evictions of entire families due to one household member's drug use are inherently unfair and punish not only the person with SUD for having a health condition but their family members as well.

# Recommendations 4.2—Increase partnerships between homeless service providers and OAT programs.

People experiencing homelessness may not have access to providers capable of prescribing OAT in the areas where they tend to live. Homeless shelters often are located far from OTPs, and the shelters may not have relationships with OAT providers to facilitate access. Theft of belongings, including prescribed buprenorphine, is a common concern among those who are living in shelters and other unstable environments.

Homeless service providers should build relationships with OTPs and X-waivered physicians to increase access to OAT at homeless shelters and other places where people experiencing homelessness access services. Homeless service providers should adopt policies that facilitate serving people who use OAT, including providing safe storage of medications. Co-location of services at locations where people experiencing homelessness live can help build trust and increase uptake.

The DEA is currently considering a regulation that would increase the ability of OTPs to provide mobile services. This could be utilized to provide mobile services at homeless shelters and other areas where people experiencing homelessness congregate, such as food banks. Such initiatives have proven successful and should be expanded, soliciting the input of people who are experiencing and who have experienced homelessness to determine which additional programs should be implemented. (Mobile services are discussed more fully in Section VI, Transportation, Recommendation 6.1.)

Mobile services have shown promise in San Francisco and King County, WA (Seattle), where opioid agonist treatment providers have established mobile medical programs specifically designed to enroll people experiencing homelessness.<sup>96</sup> A program in Boston reported positive results from providing opioid agonist treatment in the context of a family shelter.<sup>97</sup>

During the COVID-19 pandemic and future public health emergencies, OAT providers should also partner with local governments and homeless service providers to ensure access to OAT for people experiencing homelessness who are quarantined. New York City began a program to deliver methadone to patients isolated in unbooked hotel rooms. Continuity of access will help ensure patients remain isolated to reduce likelihood of coronavirus transmission while maintaining their medication regimen.

#### Recommendation 4.3—Prohibit recovery residences from excluding OAT.

"Recovery homes" or "sober homes" are typically abstinence-based, and many enforce a strict drug-free policy that forbids residents from utilizing OAT. <sup>99</sup> In many circumstances, individuals are forced to choose between the potential support offered by a group of other individuals in recovery and utilizing OAT.

Use of OAT should not limit housing for people in recovery. State and federal law could prohibit recovery residences from denying people for using federally approved medication that is the gold standard of care for OUDs.

#### Recommendation 4.4—Support Housing First and permanent supportive housing approaches.

The Housing First model prioritizes providing permanent housing to people experiencing homelessness without first requiring that they engage in treatment or other services. It utilizes a harm-reduction approach to provide voluntary support and resources to individuals to help them reduce and manage their substance use and other health conditions. These programs have demonstrated efficacy in housing retention for people with SUDs, reduced drug use, increased utilization of services, and reduced use of emergency healthcare. However, capacity of these programs remains well below that which is needed to address the need.

Federal and state governments should prioritize funding for the construction of permanent supportive housing and the creative use of available units to house people with SUDs and provide connections to OAT. Once housed and stable, people are more likely to engage in OAT and other services to further improve their health.

## **Section 5. Zoning**

Zoning is an exercise of government police powers to protect the health, safety, and general welfare of the public. Most states delegate zoning powers to local governments such as municipalities and counties. A typical zoning ordinance divides the community into districts where uses are permitted, either by right (subject only to a building permit or certificate of occupancy) or through discretionary review (such as a conditional use permit or special use permit that requires a public hearing and case-specific conditions). Zoning regulations control how land can be used, including things like what type of building may be built (e.g., business or residence), maximum building height restrictions, and special standards for designated uses, such as hours of operation or buffer zones. Many states require communities to study their needs for various land uses and develop a comprehensive plan to address those needs, sometimes subject to state approval.

Because zoning is a function of local legislation, it typically reflects the views and policies of the voters who elected the city council or county commission. As such, zoning serves a variety of legitimate public purposes – such as protecting property values, avoiding uses that are out of scale with a neighborhood, and minimizing the adverse impacts of uses. However, zoning can also hinder access to services and resources by segregating communities and limiting where needed services can be located. Further, when a building use requires approval, community members may make strong showings of dissatisfaction that sway policymakers from approving, even if independent analyses confirm the need is great. This public sentiment is often referred to as "not in my back yard" or NIMBYism. NIMBYism may pose an even larger obstacle in rural areas where public opposition can be more vocal and alternate locations are sparser.

Zoning can be a major factor in whether individuals have access to opioid agonist treatment. If opioid treatment providers are only allowed to operate in a few zoning districts and/or districts that are far from residences and without access to public transportation, people who seek opioid agonist treatment will not have access or will strain to obtain it.

Where OTPs are subject to siting approval, community backlash in the form of NIMBY attitudes may prevent OTPs from being approved in accessible areas or at all. Community members may say that putting an OTP in their neighborhood would lower property values, but a recent study found no evidence that SUD treatment facilities, including OTPs, lower property values. <sup>101</sup> Here are our recommendations to remove potential zoning barriers to OAT access.

#### Recommendation 5.1 – Require OAT access as a component in comprehensive development plans.

Many states establish statewide comprehensive planning requirements that obligate localities to create comprehensive zoning plans. This can be a tool for ensuring that localities consider local needs and plan adequate zoning for certain services. For example, California and Florida require comprehensive plans to include housing elements that assess and plan for the housing needs of everyone in the community. This model could be used to ensure that localities plan for and address the communities' and regions' needs for OAT access. The state could develop standards for OAT access to provide minimum benchmarks that localities could build on.

#### Recommendation 5.2—Provide for state review of OTP siting denials.

Some states, such as Massachusetts and New Jersey, provide for state review or special court proceedings for projects (such as affordable housing) that are initially denied or burdened by local zoning restrictions. This sends project review to an agency that considers regional or statewide considerations. This process could be utilized for OTP siting denials at the local level. A statewide agency could consider the need for OAT access in the locality or region and override the denial if necessary while attempting to address local concerns.

#### Recommendation 5.3—Allow approval of OTPs without conditional use permits.

States may establish statewide standards for siting facilities that override local zoning controls. One example is California's housing element law, which requires localities to establish a zone or zones where emergency homeless shelters are permitted to operate without needing to obtain conditional use or other discretionary permits. <sup>104</sup> States could adapt this approach to require localities to identify zoning districts where OTPs are allowed to operate without obtaining discretionary approval.

#### Recommendation 5.4—Ensure established law is enforced when necessary.

Because the zoning standards are adopted legislatively, courts loath to interfere with them. However, several courts have interpreted federal laws protecting the rights of people with disabilities to prohibit zoning regulations that ban or seriously restrict community placement of OTPs or require discriminatory notice requirements. <sup>105</sup> Advocates should be watchful for local policies that ban or severely restrict OTP siting, and where they find them, partner with attorneys to fight discriminatory policies that do not comply with established disability law.

## **Section 6. Transportation**

Lack of access to transportation is a well-known barrier to health care access, <sup>106</sup> including access to SUD treatment. One study found that 20 percent of people in treatment reported difficulty getting to or from treatment as a reason for nonattendance. <sup>107</sup> Travel to OTPs to access OAT can also be burdensome. One study found that 26 percent of patients traveled more than 15 miles to their OTP, and six percent traveled more than 50 miles. <sup>108</sup> People who lived in the Southeast and Midwest and in non-urban areas were more likely to travel greater distances.

Although often overlooked, transportation policy can play a key role in helping to mitigate the crisis of opioid-related harm, particularly through improving access to treatment, employment, and other necessary services. Several transportation policies also hinder people's ability to travel to treatment. We address several major barriers and offer solutions below. In addition, options that reduce the need of people seeking OAT to travel, such as telehealth, may also help to alleviate transportation barriers. Telehealth is addressed more fully in Section I, Recommendation 1.5.

#### Recommendation 6.1—Increase mobile OAT provision.

Instead of requiring people to travel to treatment, an alternative is to bring treatment to where people are. Mobile OAT provision could increase access by alleviating transportation barriers. Unfortunately, policy and financial barriers prevent widespread adoption of mobile delivery methods. OTPs are required to dispense OAT through a DEA-registered brick and mortar location and typically are not allowed to use mobile sites, such as a van, to deliver OAT. Only 19 OTPs currently operate a DEA-approved mobile unit.<sup>109</sup>

During the COVID-19 emergency, the DEA is allowing all existing OTPs to use the same non-registered location to provide mobile take-home OAT.<sup>110</sup> In addition, the DEA has proposed a rule that would allow OTPs to operate mobile components without requiring separate registration, even beyond the pandemic.<sup>111</sup> If finalized, this regulation would allow OTPs to expand mobile OAT access, potentially reaching people who would otherwise not have access.

Federal and state governments could support expansion of mobile OAT if the rule is finalized by providing funding for new and existing OTPs to increase reach through mobile delivery, including any needed changes to make mobile OAT Medicaid reimbursable. States with statutory or regulatory barriers for provision of mobile OAT that are stricter than the federal government should act to remove these.

Buprenorphine is less strictly regulated than methadone and could be made available via mobile delivery more easily. X-waivered physicians could participate in mobile street medicine teams, partnering with other health professionals to reach high-risk populations, evaluate for OUDs, and prescribe buprenorphine. With the relaxed telehealth requirements for buprenorphine during the COVID-19 pandemic, reaching and providing mobile delivery to high-risk people is possible even when the physician is not physically present. Outreach workers could identify interested people with OUDs and use a telephone or smart device to connect them with an X-waivered physician, who can complete an evaluation and prescribe buprenorphine to new patients without the typical requirement of completing an in-person evaluation. This approach has been used to provide buprenorphine access to people experiencing homelessness during the emergency. Policymakers should strive to retain these gains in access even after the pandemic ends by making the policy changes permanent. Federal and state governments should provide street medicine and similar models of care with appropriate funding, including through Medicaid reimbursement.

#### Recommendation 6.2—Improve access to non-emergency medical transportation to OAT providers.

Public and private health insurers can reimburse for the expense of direct transportation to OAT treatment. For example, non-emergency medical transportation (NEMT) under Medicaid is a critical benefit for many people without transportation alternatives to access Medicaid-covered services. One survey of people who used Medicaid-funded NEMT to attend SUD, dialysis, or diabetic wound treatment found that 58 percent would be unable to reach treatment without that transportation option. In addition to NEMT under Medicaid, other services, such as those provided by the Department of Veterans Affairs and paratransit provided under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), offer transportation options for those who meet the qualifications.

State Medicaid programs are required to cover NEMT, but several issues may prevent its use for accessing OAT. First, if OAT is not a covered Medicaid benefit, then NEMT does not need to cover transport to those services. Second, states may request waivers to exempt them from the requirement to provide NEMT to all Medicaid beneficiaries. For example, Kentucky recently received federal approval to exempt NEMT for beneficiaries who would use it to access methadone. Third, state policies and practices may limit access to NEMT even if it is a covered service. If the state is not adequately funding or coordinating transportation, it may become unavailable or so inconvenient that beneficiaries lose interest in seeking OAT. The National Council of State Legislators found in 2015 that 28 states do not coordinate transportation with their Medicaid agency at all, often leading to inefficient use of resources.

To alleviate these barriers, states could ensure that OAT is a covered Medicaid service and that NEMT benefits extend to transportation to OAT services for all beneficiaries. States should also improve coordination among health agencies, public and specialized transportation providers, and other stakeholders to maximize transportation fund efficiency. Implementing technology, such as digitally integrated transportation networks that allow for simple ride scheduling and trip assignments by various stakeholders, can help to increase communication and identify and address inefficiencies.

In 2018, West Virginia increased transportation access to opioid agonist treatment for all Medicaid beneficiaries with implementation of a federal waiver that expanded Medicaid-covered substance use disorder services.<sup>115</sup>

#### Recommendation 6.3 - Reduce driver's license revocations for reasons unrelated to road safety.

In much of the United States, having a driver's license and access to a car is the primary means of travel, including travel to health services. When the ability to obtain a driver's license is foreclosed, access to a wide variety of services becomes very limited. Not having a license often disconnects the only access to healthcare, SUD treatment, employment, education, and other essential services to help people gain stability.

Many states impose significant license-suspension periods on drivers who are found guilty of operating a motor vehicle with a statutorily prescribed amount of illegal drugs in their blood, regardless of whether the driver is impaired. Twelve states impose the suspension after a conviction of having any amount of illegal drug in the driver's blood. These laws can and have been applied to people with legally prescribed methadone or buprenorphine in their system. Convictions under these laws can result in a person losing the right to drive for extended periods of time.

Federal law also encourages states to enact and enforce laws requiring drug offender's driver's license suspensions regardless of whether the offense had anything to do with driving. States that do not enact these laws must pass a legislative resolution and gubernatorial certification of opposition or lose federal highway safety funding. Eleven states and Puerto Rico have laws that comply with the federal standard. Some states prohibit issuance or renewal of a driver's license to people deemed to have a SUD, even if they are not convicted of any offense. Communications between the licensing authority and the driver's medical providers are then required to remove the barrier to obtaining a license.

In addition, unpaid fines and fees can prevent people from obtaining or reinstating a driver's license. Let Criminal legal system fines and fees are of primary concern, but unpaid child support can also serve as reason for a license denial. Let In some states, the loss of driving privileges is more likely to be debt related than driving related.

States could remove barriers to obtaining and reinstating driver's licenses where driver impairment and road safety are not an issue, especially since having one can make the difference between accessing treatment or not. Revocations for convictions could be limited at least to convictions where impairment due to intoxication is proven. This may require changes to state statutes to prevent convictions and revocations based merely on presence of drugs in a person's system. States could also remove restrictions on obtaining driver's licenses due to unpaid fines and fees. These policies essentially punish low-income people and prevent them from driving to work and the necessary resources they need, including treatment, to achieve stability. When the government does suspend someone's driver's license, they should consider providing alternative means of transportation, such as vouchers to use public transit or ride-share options like Uber.

#### Recommendation 6.4—Increase public transportation options.

Public transit can provide a means for people to access treatment, but it is not available in most communities. Approximately 45 percent of the United States population has no access to transit whatsoever.<sup>124</sup> This is, in part, due to the fact that U.S. and state policies treat transit as a local affair; transit is only provided or assisted in communities that request assistance and pick up the lion's share of the risks and costs of operating the system. The result is spotty availability of transit in communities willing to bear the financial risk. Racism and other factors may play a role in suburbs not participating in a transit system, making it difficult to reach suburban facilities from an urban center.<sup>125</sup>

Where public transportation does exist, the time required for this option can be problematic, especially for working people. A trip that might require ten minutes by car might take an hour or more by indirect bus connections. Traveling to work and to a treatment provider may be impossible for many who rely on public transportation, especially if required to travel to an OTP daily.

Federal and state investments are needed to ensure equitable access to public transportation, especially for communities that could not bear the financial burden on their own. States, counties, and municipalities could determine and execute transportation plans to increase access across their jurisdictions, including for lower-income areas that may benefit more from increased public transit options. Governments could implement technology to provide feedback on utilization and for data analysis to determine what improvements are needed to make public transit more feasible and attractive.

### **Section 7. Education & Youth**

OAT is an important and underutilized intervention for youth with OUDs engaged in the educational system. <sup>126</sup> Many young people in the U.S. start opioid use while in school: a recent analysis of opioid surveillance data found that over half of people seeking treatment for OUD initiated regular opioid use while in an educational program, most often high school or early college. <sup>127</sup> Characteristics of college settings – e.g., social norms, increased independence, stress, anxiety, and depression – are associated with developing an SUD. <sup>128</sup>

OUD impacts educational engagement and attainment. In a recent study of treatment-seeking opioid users, a majority reported that opioid use negatively impacted their education and that they prioritized drug-seeking over attendance and academic performance. <sup>129</sup> In addition, the study revealed that those who develop OUD attain lower levels of education than the U.S. population as a whole. This begins a downward spiral: lower educational attainment may result in jobs with low financial compensation and subpar healthcare benefits or jobs more likely to include manual labor, which are associated with increased risk of OUD and potential relapse.

As with adults, opioid agonist treatment use among youth improves outcomes and saves lives. Teenagers who utilize opioid agonist treatment remain in treatment longer and engage in fewer risk behaviors like drug injection. Despite this, and despite the fact that recommended treatment standards in the U.S. include providing youth with access to opioid agonist treatment, youth are less than one-tenth as likely as adults to receive such treatment.

The need for increasing OAT access for youth and those in educational settings is clear, but many barriers prevent it. Prominent barriers and proposed solutions are explored below.

#### Recommendation 7.1—Reduce federal restrictions on youth methadone access.

Federal regulations make methadone access more restrictive for youth than for adults. According to SAMHSA regulations, youth are not permitted to access methadone unless they unsuccessfully attempt detoxification and/or drug-free treatment twice within a 12-month period.<sup>133</sup> This requirement is incongruous with clear evidence that methadone increases youth retention in care by nearly 70 percent, even more so than buprenorphine, and has a low incidence of side effects.<sup>134</sup> In addition, the regulations require adolescents obtain written parental consent for methadone treatment.<sup>135</sup> As a result of these obstacles, adolescents use methadone infrequently.<sup>136</sup>

The requirement that youth fail twice at non-OAT treatment in a 12-month period before having methadone access should be eliminated. The most effective treatment should not be withheld until other treatments are shown not to work. This puts youth at increased risk of negative consequences, including risky drug use behaviors and death due to overdose. At a minimum, SAMHSA should revise its regulations to make youth access to methadone the same as for adults. Parity would also mean eliminating the requirements to demonstrate unsuccessful attempts in detoxification and/or drug-free treatment and to obtain parental consent for youth methadone access. States should also revise their laws to allow access without these barriers, including possibly amending minor consent laws.

#### Recommendation 7.2—Expand OAT access on college and university campuses.

OAT access on college and university campuses is rare and not highly publicized. While colleges have housed recovery programs and dorms for some time, the vast majority are not providing OAT referrals or services. [327] Lack of accessible locations and strict OTP requirements may conflict with school schedules and pose barriers to OAT engagement for youth.

Providing OAT capacity on college and university campuses would be a meaningful way to increase access to these lifesaving medications for youth. A school's medical services could go through the steps to register as an OTP, allowing providers to dispense methadone and buprenorphine to students in need. Alternatively, the medical services could hire physicians who have obtained an X waiver to provide buprenorphine.

Private support from Transforming Youth Recovery, which has provided \$1.3 million in grants to 161 colleges for such programs since 2013, could be leveraged to support such a project. Alternatively, the federal government could allocate funding to support OAT access expansion at college and universities. A school's medical program and teaching hospital could be recruited to support OAT engagement by students, increase education of medical students about OAT, and increase the number of providers eligible to prescribe OAT medications both at the university and in the community at large, by increasing the number of trained and X-waivered clinicians.

#### Recommendation 7.3—Implement screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment for youth.

Screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment (SBIRT) is a universal intervention that may lead to faster referral and treatment for SUDs, including OAT. Its adoption is recommended by the American Academy of Pediatrics. Youth are asked about drug use through a validated screening tool through a variety of avenues, including health centers, middle and high schools, colleges and universities, and community-based organizations. If needed, professionals follow up with youth for a structured conversation about their responses. When appropriate, these conversations are followed up with a referral to treatment.

SBIRT can be an effective way to connect youth in need with OAT. Federal and state agencies should promote adoption of SBIRT through the programs and services they offer and support. Public and private health insurance should cover SBIRT services and provide adequate reimbursement so that health professionals are incentivized to provide this service.

#### Recommendation 7.4—Increase research on OAT safety and efficacy in pediatric populations.

The American Academy of Pediatrics supports providing OAT to youth, and some data suggest that buprenorphine is effective in patients as young as 13. <sup>140</sup> Despite this, limited data on the safety and efficacy of OAT for youth is cited as one reason for low utilization among this population. <sup>141</sup> Federal agencies such as the National Institute on Drug Abuse and SAMHSA should allocate funding specifically to establish safety and efficacy standards and guidelines for OAT in pediatric populations. They should also support implementation research to determine how best to disseminate existing treatment models while optimally supporting prescribers in their efforts to treat adolescents with OUDs. <sup>142</sup>

## **Section 8. Employment**

OAT increases the ability of individuals with OUD to gain and maintain employment, and employment can play an important role in achieving stability by providing income, social contacts, and a sense of purpose. Accordingly, laws and policies should support the compatibility of OAT and employment to the maximum extent possible.

However, people who benefit or could benefit from OAT often face barriers in their employment. The strict structure of OTPs requires people to travel to the OTP to receive their dose (often daily), leaving them to choose between leaving work during a shift or skipping their dose (which in turn could lead to discontinuation of medication). Employees who use OAT may face discrimination in the workplace in a variety of forms. These and other barriers are discussed below, along with proposed solutions to alleviate these barriers.

#### Recommendation 8.1 - Enforce anti-discrimination laws to prevent bars to employment.

The ADA protects people with disabilities from discrimination in a variety of areas, including employment, and affords applicants and employees a legal right to "reasonable accommodation." <sup>144</sup> These protections apply to people who are recovering from SUDs, including people who use OAT. <sup>145</sup> Nonetheless, employers sometimes deny employment or terminate employees based on their engagement in OAT or requests for reasonable accommodation to access OAT (e.g., adjusting work schedule to travel to an OTP during their business hours). This conduct may be unlawful, even where the position is deemed a "safety-sensitive" position, if the employer makes the negative determination based on a blanket policy instead of after conducting an individualized assessment to determine whether the OAT impairs the individual's ability to perform the job requirements. <sup>146</sup>

Employers often do not understand OAT or the law applicable to OAT, and the resulting stigma may lead to negative employment actions. Federal and state agencies should provide resources to educate employers about OAT and their responsibilities for applicants and employees who use OAT. The federal Equal Employment Opportunity Commission should continue to investigate complaints of discrimination against people who use OAT and enforce the law on their behalf, as should state employee protection agencies. These actions would not only support OAT engagement and employment, but also help to destigmatize OAT and addiction.

#### Recommendation 8.2 - Expand leave allowances to access substance use disorder treatment.

Federal and state laws provide employees with paid or unpaid leave to access medical services. The federal Family and Medical Leave Act allows employees to take up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave within a 12-month period for the employee to address his or her own serious health conditions impacting job performance or duties. Employees can use this benefit to access SUD treatment. However, the act does not apply to all employers and employees must meet certain qualifications, including having worked for the employer for at least 12 months.

Some states have laws specifically requiring employers to provide leave to employees who voluntarily seek SUD treatment. If the employee has no accrued sick leave or expends it during leave to seek treatment, the remainder of the leave is unpaid. Many employees live paycheck to paycheck and are unable to take time off, even if that time would be used to address personal health needs.

California requires employers with 25 or more employees to provide a reasonable amount of time off to employees seeking substance use disorder treatment and allow employees to use accrued paid sick time while on leave.<sup>149</sup>

Employers can encourage employees with substance use needs to access treatment by offering leave, especially paid leave, to access needed services. Such leave would allow people who may benefit from OAT to access services and begin a maintenance regimen. OAT is typically used in an outpatient setting, so people who use leave for OAT access would likely not need the entire 12 weeks of leave before returning to work. States can facilitate this access by implementing or expanding leave benefits for attending SUD treatment through legislative action. Criteria should not be so strict so as to make the benefit unavailable, including reducing the amount of time required to work for the employer before qualifying.

#### Recommendation 8.3—Increase use of employee assistance programs.

Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs) are work-based programs that offer free, confidential assessments, short-term counseling, referrals, and follow-up services to employees struggling with personal and/or work-related problems. EAPs address a wide variety of issues impacting mental and emotional well-being, including substance use needs. For an employee with substance use needs, an EAP may be a tool for connecting that person with OAT. These programs have demonstrated positive returns on investment in the form of improved work performance and employee health and well-being. EAPs

Despite their benefits and the fact that most employers have them, employees do not frequently use EAPs. Employees may not understand that an EAP is available to them or the benefits of accessing it, associate stigma with accessing it, or may fear negative repercussions from their employer. Employers should be educated on the benefits of EAPs for their workers and companies and promote use to employees. Managers and supervisors should clearly communicate to their supervisees that confidential EAPs are available to them and that employers are prohibited from taking negative actions against employees who access the programs. Employers should ensure that their EAPs are equipped to respond to people with substance use needs and to connect people who may benefit with OAT providers.

## **CONCLUSION**

OAT is the most effective treatment for opioid use disorders and is credited with dramatically reducing risk of death due to opioid overdose. However, a variety of barriers arising in nearly all sectors prevent OAT access for many in need. This paper has highlighted some of the most pressing barriers in eight different policy and legal areas and offered solutions for which advocates can strive.

In particular, this paper highlighted the need for a cross-sector approach to improving access to OAT. Implementing solutions within individual sectors is not sufficient to address the complex factors limiting access to OAT. A comprehensive approach must involve voices from different sectors and experiences, including community members, advocates, policy makers, and attorneys. These partnerships can better identify common barriers to OAT and empower broad-based collaboration to improve health.

### REFERENCES

- <sup>1</sup> Hedegaard, H., Miniño, A.M., & Warner, M. (2020). *Drug overdose deaths in the United States*, 1999–2018. National Center for Health Statistics. <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db356.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db356.htm</a>
- <sup>2</sup> Id.; National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2018). 2018 *Fatal Motor Vehicle Crashes: Overview.* https://crashstats.nhtsa.dot.gov/Api/Public/ViewPublication/812826 (noting that 36,560 people were killed in motor vehicle traffic crashes in 2018).
- <sup>3</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, March 24). *America's drug overdose epidemic: Data to action.* https://www.cdc.gov/injury/features/prescription-drug-overdose/index.html
- <sup>4</sup> Hedegaard, Miniño, & Warner, supra note 1.
- <sup>5</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). 2018 Drug Overdose Death Rates. https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/data/statedeaths/drug-overdose-death-2018.html; Chau, V. (2020). The Opioid Crisis and the Black/African American Population:

  An Urgent Issue. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/SAMHSA\_Digital\_Download/PEP20-05-02-001\_508%20Final.pdf; Injury Prevention in American Indian and Alaska Native

  Communities. (2020). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/injury/fundedprograms/tribal.html
- <sup>6</sup> Slawek, D. E., Lu, T. Y., Hayes, B., & Fox, A. D. (2019). Caring for patients with opioid use disorder: What clinicians should know about comorbid medical conditions. *Psychiatric Research and Clinical Practice*, *1*(1), 16–26. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.prcp.20180005">https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.prcp.20180005</a>
- <sup>7</sup> American Academy of Family Physicians. (2017). *Incarceration and health: A family medicine perspective (Position paper)*. https://www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/incarcerationandhealth.html
- <sup>8</sup> Meyer, R., Patel, A. M., Rattana, S. K., Quock, T. P., Mody, & S. H. (2014). Prescription Opioid Abuse: A Literature Review of the Clinical and Economic Burden in the United States. *Population Health Management, 17*(6), 372-387. <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4273187/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4273187/</a>
- <sup>9</sup> National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). *Medications for Opioid Use Disorder Save Lives*. https://doi.org/10.17226/25310
- <sup>10</sup> Id.
- <sup>11</sup> Id.
- <sup>12</sup> National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). *Medication-Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder: Proceedings of a Workshop—in Brief.* <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK534504/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK534504/</a>
- 13 See 21 U.S.C. § 823(g)(1); 42 C.F.R. § 8.12.
- 14 See 21 U.S.C. § 823(g)(2).
- <sup>15</sup> See 21 U.S.C. § 823(g)(2)(B)(iii); 42 C.F.R. § 8.610-8.655.
- <sup>16</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's Center for the Application of Prevention Technologies. (2018). *The Role of Adverse Childhood Experiences in Substance Misuse and Related Behavioral Health Problems*. <a href="https://mnprc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/aces-behavioral-health-problems.pdf">https://mnprc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/aces-behavioral-health-problems.pdf</a>
- <sup>17</sup> Derefinko, K. J., Salgado García, F. I., Talley, K. M., Bursaca, Z., Johnson, K. C., Murphy, J. G., McDevitt-Murphy, M. E., Andrasik, F., & Sumroka, D. (2019). Adverse Childhood Experiences Predict Opioid Relapse During Treatment Among Rural Adults. *Addictive Behaviors*, 96, 171-174. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.05.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.05.008</a>
- <sup>18</sup> Id.
- <sup>19</sup> Paquette, C. E., Syvertsen, J. L., Pollini, R. A. (2018). Stigma at every turn: Health services experiences among people who inject drugs. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *57*, 104-110; van Boekel, L. C., Brouwers, E. P. M., van Weeghel, J., & Garretsen, H. F. L. (2013). Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: Systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *131*(1-2), 23-35. The OTP and X Waiver requirements are explained in the Introduction of this paper.
- <sup>20</sup> See 42 C.F.R. § 8.12(i).
- <sup>21</sup> Opioid Treatment Program Directory. (n.d.). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Retrieved July 8, 2020, from https://dpt2.samhsa.gov/treatment/directory.aspx
- <sup>22</sup> Joudrey, P. J., Chadi, N., Roy, P., Morford, K. L., Bach, P., Kimmel, S., Wang, E. A., & Calcaterra, S. L. (2020). Pharmacy-based methadone dispensing and drive time to methadone treatment in five states within the United States: A cross-sectional study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 211*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.107968
- <sup>23</sup> National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, *supra* note 9, at 118.
- <sup>24</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). Opioid Treatment Program (OTP) Guidance. https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/otp-guidance-20200316.pdf

- <sup>25</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. (2006). *The Determinations Report: A Report On the Physician Waiver Program Established by the Drug Addiction Treatment Act of 2000 ("DATA")*. https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/programs\_campaigns/medication\_assisted/determinations-report-physician-waiver-program.pdf
- <sup>26</sup> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General. (2020). *Semiannual Report to Congress*. <a href="https://oig.hhs.gov/reports-and-publications/archives/semiannual/2020/2020-spring-sar.pdf">https://oig.hhs.gov/reports-and-publications/archives/semiannual/2020/2020-spring-sar.pdf</a>
- 27 Id.
- <sup>28</sup> McBournie, A., Duncan, A., Connolly, E., & Rising, J. (2019, September 23). *Methadone barriers persist, despite decades of evidence*. Health Affairs Blog. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20190920.981503/full/
- <sup>29</sup> See California Office of Administrative Law. (2020). *Notice of Approval of Regulatory Action*. <a href="https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/laws/regs/Documents/DHCS-14-026/14-026-ART-TXT.pdf">https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/laws/regs/Documents/DHCS-14-026/14-026-ART-TXT.pdf</a> (for example, § 10270(d) removes the requirement to have two or more unsuccessful attempts at withdrawal treatment before having access to OAT).
- <sup>30</sup> Ohio Department of Mental Health and Addiction Services. (2020). COVID-19 and Opioid Treatment Programs. <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/sample-otp-covid-19-faqs.pdf">https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/sample-otp-covid-19-faqs.pdf</a>
- <sup>31</sup> Heath, S. (2018, December 18). *PA State Policies Push for Patient Care Access, Opioid Treatment.* Patient Care Access News. <a href="https://patientengagementhit.com/news/ama-calls-to-eliminate-prior-authorization-for-mat-patient-access">https://patientengagementhit.com/news/ama-calls-to-eliminate-prior-authorization-for-mat-patient-access</a>; Luthra, S. (2017, February 21). *Facing Pressure, Insurance Plans Loosen Rules for Covering Addiction Treatment.* Kaiser Health News. <a href="https://khn.org/news/facing-pressure-insurance-plans-loosen-rules-for-covering-addiction-treatment/">https://khn.org/news/facing-pressure-insurance-plans-loosen-rules-for-covering-addiction-treatment/</a>
- <sup>32</sup> Heath, S. (2019, January 8). *AMA Calls to Eliminate Prior Authorization for MAT Patient Access*. Patient Care Access News. https://patientengagementhit.com/news/ama-calls-to-eliminate-prior-authorization-for-mat-patient-access
- <sup>33</sup> American Medical Association, Manatt, & Pennsylvania Medical Society (2018). *Spotlight on Pennsylvania: Leading-Edge Practices and Next Steps in Ending the Opioid Epidemic*. <a href="https://www.end-opioid-epidemic.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/AMA-Manatt-PAMED-spotlight-analysis-FINAL-for-release.pdf">https://www.end-opioid-epidemic.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/AMA-Manatt-PAMED-spotlight-analysis-FINAL-for-release.pdf</a>
- <sup>34</sup> Weber, E. (2020). Spotlight on Legislation Limiting the Use of Prior Authorization for Substance Use Disorder Services and Medications. Legal Action Center. <a href="https://www.lac.org/resource/spotlight-on-legislation-limiting-the-use-of-prior-authorization-for-substance-use-disorder-services-and-medications">https://www.lac.org/resource/spotlight-on-legislation-limiting-the-use-of-prior-authorization-for-substance-use-disorder-services-and-medications</a>
- <sup>35</sup> Drug Enforcement Administration. (2018). Use of Telemedicine While Providing Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT). https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/GDP/(DEA-DC-7)%20Use%20of%20Telemedicine%20While%20Providing%20 Medication%20Assisted%20Treatment%20(MAT).pdf
- <sup>36</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020) FAQs: Provision of methadone and buprenorphine for the treatment of Opioid Use Disorder in the COVID-19 emergency. <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/faqs-for-oud-prescribing-and-dispensing.pdf">https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/faqs-for-oud-prescribing-and-dispensing.pdf</a>; Drug Enforcement Administration. (2020). Use of Telephone Evaluations to Initiate Buprenorphine Prescribing. <a href="https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/GDP/(DEA-DC-022)(DEA068)%20DEA%20SAMHSA%20buprenorphine%20">https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/GDP/(DEA-DC-022)(DEA068)%20DEA%20SAMHSA%20buprenorphine%20</a> telemedicine%20%20(Final)%20+Esign.pdf
- <sup>37</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, *supra* note 36.
- <sup>38</sup> Id.
- <sup>39</sup> Lawton, B. (2020). Lifeline Program Provides Discounted Access to Needed Telephone and Broadband Internet Services, But is Underutilized. Network for Public Health Law. <a href="https://www.networkforphl.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Lifeline-Program-Provides-Discounted-Access-to-Needed-Telephone-and-Broadband-Internet-Services-But-is-Underutilized-endnotes.pdf">https://www.networkforphl.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Lifeline-Program-Provides-Discounted-Access-to-Needed-Telephone-and-Broadband-Internet-Services-But-is-Underutilized-endnotes.pdf</a>
- <sup>40</sup> Carey, C. M., Jena, A. B., & Barnett, M. L. (2018). Patterns of potential opioid misuse and subsequent adverse outcomes in Medicare, 2008 to 2012. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 168(12), 837-845. https://doi.org/10.7326/M17-3065
- <sup>41</sup> D'Onofrio, G., O'Connor, P. G., Pantalon, M. V., Chawarski, M. C., Busch, S. H., Owens, P. H., Bernstein, S. L., & Fiellin, D. A. (2015). Emergency department–initiated buprenorphine/naloxone treatment for opioid dependence: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*, *313*(16), 1636-1644. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.3474
- <sup>42</sup> Weiner, S. G., Baker, O., Bernson, D., & Schuur, J. D. (2020). One-year mortality of patients after emergency department treatment for nonfatal opioid overdose. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 75(1), 13–17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.04.020">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2019.04.020</a>
- <sup>43</sup> MASS. GEN. LAWS ch. 111 § 25J1/2.
- <sup>44</sup> California Bridge Program (n.d.). *The CA Bridge Model: Substance Use Disorder Treatment in Acute Care Settings*. Retrieved July 9, 2020, from <a href="https://www.bridgetotreatment.org/cabridgeprogram">https://www.bridgetotreatment.org/cabridgeprogram</a>

- <sup>45</sup> Harper, J. (2017, October 20). *Millions of people need addiction treatment—family doctors could help.* WFYI Public Media. <a href="https://www.wfyi.org/news/articles/millions-of-people-need-addiction-treatmentfamily-doctors-could-help">https://www.wfyi.org/news/articles/millions-of-people-need-addiction-treatmentfamily-doctors-could-help</a>
- <sup>46</sup> Hutchinson, E., Catlin, M., Andrilla, C. H. A., Baldwin, L.-M., & Rosenblatt, R. A. (2014). Barriers to primary care physicians prescribing buprenorphine. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *12*(2), 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1595
- <sup>47</sup> Fiscella, K., & Wakeman, S. (2019, March 12). *Let all doctors prescribe buprenorphine for opioid use disorder.* STAT News. <a href="https://www.statnews.com/2019/03/12/deregulate-buprenophine-prescribing/">https://www.statnews.com/2019/03/12/deregulate-buprenophine-prescribing/</a>; Sack, D. (2017, June 22). *A doctor's most dreaded patient: The addict.* Psych Central Addiction Recovery Blog. <a href="https://blogs.psychcentral.com/addiction-recovery/2014/05/a-doctors-most-dreaded-patient-the-addict/">https://blogs.psychcentral.com/addiction-recovery/2014/05/a-doctors-most-dreaded-patient-the-addict/</a>
- <sup>48</sup> Kermack, A., Flannery, M., Tofighi, B., McNeely, J., & Lee, J. D. (2017). Buprenorphine prescribing practice trends and attitudes among New York providers. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *74*, 1–6. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.10.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.10.005</a>
- <sup>50</sup> Whelan, A. (2019, February 11.). *Using opioids to treat addiction is considered the gold standard. So why aren't more doctors prescribing them?* Philadelphia Inquirer. <a href="https://www.inquirer.com/health/opioid-addiction-treatment-methadone-buprenorphine-prescriptions-20190211.html">https://www.inquirer.com/health/opioid-addiction-treatment-methadone-buprenorphine-prescriptions-20190211.html</a>
- <sup>51</sup> NHSC substance use disorder workforce loan repayment program. (n.d.). Health Resources and Services Administration. Retrieved July 9, 2020, from <a href="https://nhsc.hrsa.gov/loan-repayment/nhsc-sud-workforce-loan-repayment-program.html">https://nhsc.hrsa.gov/loan-repayment/nhsc-sud-workforce-loan-repayment-program.html</a>
- <sup>52</sup> Association of State and Territorial Health Officers & National Association of Community Health Workers (n.d.). *Community Health Workers: Evidence of Their Effectiveness*. <a href="https://www.astho.org/Programs/Clinical-to-Community-Connections/Documents/CHW-Evidence-of-Effectiveness/">https://www.astho.org/Programs/Clinical-to-Community-Connections/Documents/CHW-Evidence-of-Effectiveness/</a>
- <sup>53</sup> In 2018, 39 states provide Medicaid coverage for some kind of peer support services. Mandros, A. (2018, March 14). *Does peer support pay?* Open Minds. <a href="https://www.openminds.com/market-intelligence/executive-briefings/does-peer-support-pay/">https://www.openminds.com/market-intelligence/executive-briefings/does-peer-support-pay/</a>
- <sup>54</sup> Regenstein, M., Trott, J., Williamson, A., & Theiss, J. (2018). Addressing social determinants of health through medical-legal partnerships. *Health Affairs*, 37(3), 378–385. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1264
- <sup>55</sup> Teufel, J. A., Werner, D., Goffinet, D., Thorne, W. Brown, S. L., & Gettinger, L. (2012). Rural Medical-Legal Partnership and Advocacy: A Three-Year Follow-Up Study. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 23(2), 705-714; Rodabaugh, K. J., Hammond, M., Myszka, D., & Sandel, M. (2010). A Medical-Legal Partnership as a Component of a Palliative Care Model. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *13*(1), 15-18.
- <sup>56</sup> Bronson, J., Stroop, J., Zimmer, S., & Berzofsky, M. (2017). *U.S. Department of Justice Bureau of Justice Statistics, Drug Use, Dependence, and Abuse Among State Prisoners and Jail Inmates*, 2007-2009. <a href="https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/dudaspji0709.pdf">https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/dudaspji0709.pdf</a>
- <sup>57</sup> Cloud, D. H., Bassett, M. T., Graves, J., Fullilove, R. E., & Brinkley-Rubinstein, L. (2020). Documenting and addressing the health impacts of carceral systems. *American Journal of Public Health*, 110(S1), S5–S5. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305475
- <sup>58</sup> Jones, A., & Sawyer, W. (2019). *Arrest, Release, Repeat: How police and jails are misused to respond to social problems.* Prison Policy Initiative. <a href="https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/repeatarrests.html">https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/repeatarrests.html</a>
- <sup>59</sup> Macswain, M.-A., Farrell-MacDonald, S., Cheverie, M., & Fischer, B. (2014). Assessing the impact of methadone maintenance treatment (MMT) on post-release recidivism among male federal correctional inmates in Canada. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 41*(3), 380–394. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854813501495">https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854813501495</a>; Farrell-MacDonald, S., MacSwain, M.-A., Cheverie, M., Tiesmaki, M., & Fischer, B. (2014). Impact of methadone maintenance treatment on women offenders' post-release recidivism. *European Addiction Research, 20*(4), 192–199. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1159/000357942">https://doi.org/10.1159/000357942</a>
- <sup>60</sup> Tsai, J. & Gu, X. (2019). Utilization of addiction treatment among U.S. adults with history of incarceration and substance use disorders. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 14(9). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0138-4
- <sup>61</sup> Zhao, J. K., Kral, A. H., Wenger, L. D., & Bluthenthal, R. N. (2020). Characteristics associated with nonmedical methadone use among people who inject drugs in California. *Substance Use and Misuse*, *55*(3), 377–386. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1673420">https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2019.1673420</a>; Silverstein, S. M., Daniulaityte, R., Miller, S. C., Martins, S. S., & Carlson, R. G. (2020). On my own terms: Motivations for self-treating opioid-use disorder with non-prescribed buprenorphine. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *210*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.107958">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.107958</a>
- <sup>62</sup> Collins, S. E., Lonczak, H. S., & Clifasefi, S. L. (2017). Seattle's law enforcement assisted diversion (LEAD): Program effects on recidivism outcomes. *Evaluation and Program Planning, 64,* 49–56. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.05.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.05.008</a>; Clifasefi, S. L., Lonczak, H. S., & Collins, S. E. (2017). Seattle's law enforcement assisted diversion (LEAD) program: Within-subjects changes on housing, employment, and income/benefits outcomes and associations with recidivism. *Crime & Delinquency, 63*(4), 429–445. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128716687550">https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128716687550</a>

- <sup>63</sup> Matusow, H., Dickman, S. L., Rich, J. D., Fong, C., Dumont, D. M., Hardin, C., Marlowe, D., & Rosenblum, A. (2013). Medication assisted treatment in US drug courts: results from a nationwide survey of availability, barriers and attitudes. *Journal of substance abuse treatment, 44*(5), 473–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2012.10.004
- <sup>64</sup> Bureau of Justice Assistance. (n.d.) *Medication-assisted Treatment*. <a href="https://bja.ojp.gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh186/files/media/document/adc-faq-medication-assisted-treatment.pdf">https://bja.ojp.gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh186/files/media/document/adc-faq-medication-assisted-treatment.pdf</a>
- <sup>65</sup> National Association of Drug Court Professionals. (n.d.) *Resolution of the board of directors on the availability of medically assisted treatment (M.A.T.) for addiction in drug courts.* <a href="https://www.ndci.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/NADCP-Board-Statement-on-MAT.pdf">https://www.ndci.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/NADCP-Board-Statement-on-MAT.pdf</a>
- <sup>66</sup> Legal Action Center. (2011). Legality of Denying Access to Medication Assisted Treatment In the Criminal Justice System. https://www.lac.org/assets/files/MAT\_Report\_FINAL\_12-1-2011.pdf
- <sup>67</sup> Delphin, M., McKee, S., & Oberleitner, L. (2018, January 23). *Yale study: Methadone treatment in prison improves inmates'* behavior, likelihood of staying clean post-release. Yale School of Medicine. https://medicine.yale.edu/ysm/news-article/16631/
- <sup>68</sup> Nicholas, J. (2019, July 31). *Drug treatment is reaching more prisons and jails*. The Appeal. <a href="https://theappeal.org/a-shot-over-the-bow-to-all-jails-and-prisons/">https://theappeal.org/a-shot-over-the-bow-to-all-jails-and-prisons/</a>
- <sup>69</sup> Vestal, C. (2020, February 26). *This state has figured out how to treat drug-addicted inmates.* Pew Charitable Trusts Stateline. https://pew.org/2Te4HYP
- <sup>70</sup> Binswanger, I. A., Stern, M. F., Deyo, R. A., Heagerty, P. J., Cheadle, A., Elmore, J. G., & Koepsell, T. D. (2007). Release from prison—A high risk of death for former inmates. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *356*(2), 157–165. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa064115">https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa064115</a>
- <sup>71</sup> Shavit, S., Aminawung, J. A., Birnbaum, N., Greenberg, S., Berthold, T., Fishman, A., Busch, S. H., & Wang, E. A. (2017). Transitions clinic network: Challenges and lessons in primary care for people released from prison. *Health Affairs*, *36*(6), 1006–1015. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0089
- <sup>72</sup> The Council of State Governments Justice Center (2019). *How Supervision Violations Are Filling Prisons and Burdening Budgets*. https://csgjusticecenter.org/publications/confined-costly/
- <sup>73</sup> National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2020, July). *Drugs, Brains, and Behavior: The Science of Addiction–Treatment and Recovery.* <a href="https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugs-brains-behavior-science-addiction/treatment-recovery">https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugs-brains-behavior-science-addiction/treatment-recovery</a>; Providers Clinical Support System. (2017, December 6). Methadone and Buprenorphine: Opioid Agonist Substitution Tapers. <a href="https://pcssnow.org/resource/methadone-buprenorphine-opioid-agonist-substitution-tapers/">https://pcssnow.org/resource/methadone-buprenorphine-opioid-agonist-substitution-tapers/</a>
- <sup>74</sup> Schwarzapfel, J. (2020, April 3). *Probation and Parole Officers Are Rethinking Their Rules As Coronavirus Spreads*. The Marshall Project. <a href="https://www.themarshallproject.org/2020/04/03/probation-and-parole-officers-are-rethinking-their-rules-as-coronavirus-spreads">https://www.themarshallproject.org/2020/04/03/probation-and-parole-officers-are-rethinking-their-rules-as-coronavirus-spreads</a>
- <sup>75</sup> EXIT: Executives Transforming Probation and Parole (n.d.) *Statement from community supervision executives on the importance of using best practices during the COVID-19 crisis.* https://www.exitprobationparole.org/covid19statement
- <sup>76</sup> See Constantine, D. (2020, March 24). *Quickly, safely reducing the jail population so staff can ensure the health of everyone in correctional facilities.* King County. <a href="https://www.kingcounty.gov/elected/executive/constantine/news/release/2020/March/24-jail-population.aspx">https://www.kingcounty.gov/elected/executive/constantine/news/release/2020/March/24-jail-population.aspx</a>
- <sup>77</sup> National Center for State Courts (n.d.). *Training for court professionals*. https://www.ncsc.org/information-and-resources/companion-sites/opioids/training-for-court-professionals; Legal Action Center. (2020). *MAT advocacy toolkit*. https://www.lac.org/resource/mat-advocacy-toolkit
- <sup>78</sup> National Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges. (2019). Resolution regarding access to medication-assisted treatment for adolescents and adults in the juvenile and family justice system. <a href="https://www.ncjfcj.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/NCJFCJ">https://www.ncjfcj.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/NCJFCJ</a> MATResolution 10-2019 finalApproved 508Compl.pdf
- <sup>79</sup> Legal Action Center, *supra*, note 66, at 19.
- <sup>80</sup> Movement for Family Power. (2020). "Whatever They Do, I'm Her Comfort, I'm Her Protector.": How the Foster System Has Become Ground Zero for the U.S. Drug War. https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5be5ed0fd274cb7c8a5d0cba/t/5eead939ca509d4e36a89277/1592449422870/MFP+Drug+War+Foster+System+Report.pdf
- <sup>81</sup> Brico, E. (2018, October 25). Six months since my daughters were taken, here's how the system punishes past drug use. Filter. https://filtermag.org/six-months-since-my-daughters-were-taken-heres-how-the-system-punishes-past-drug-use/
- <sup>82</sup> Institute for Research, Education & Training in Addictions. (2017). 3 barriers to medication-assisted treatment for drug court participants and how they can be overcome. https://ireta.org/resources/3-barriers-to-medication-assisted-treatment-for-drug-court-participants-and-how-they-can-be-overcome/#:~:text=Medication%2Dassisted%20treatment%20 (MAT),methadone%2C%20buprenorphine%2C%20and%20naltrexone.

- <sup>83</sup> Seibert, J., Stockdale, H., Feinberg, R., Dobbins, E., Theis, E., & Karon S. L. (2019). *State policy levers for expanding family-centered medication-assisted treatment*. Office of the Assistant Secretary For Planning and Evaluation. <a href="https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/state-policy-levers-expanding-family-centered-medication-assisted-treatment#additional">https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/state-policy-levers-expanding-family-centered-medication-assisted-treatment#additional</a>
- 84 Id
- <sup>85</sup> Henry, M., Watt, R., Mahathey, A., Ouellette, J., & Sitler, A. (2020). *The 2019 annual homeless assessment report (AHAR) to Congress*. Department of Housing and Urban Development. <a href="https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/2019-AHAR-Part-1.pdf">https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/2019-AHAR-Part-1.pdf</a>
- <sup>86</sup> Wyant, B. E., Karon, S. S., & Pfefferle, S. G. (2019). *Housing options for recovery for individuals with opioid use disorder:* a literature review. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. <a href="https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/housing-options-recovery-individuals-opioid-use-disorder-literature-review#findings">https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/housing-options-recovery-individuals-opioid-use-disorder-literature-review#findings</a>
- <sup>87</sup> Parpouchi, M., Moniruzzaman, A., Rezansoff, S. N., Russolillo, A., & Somers, J. M. (2017). Characteristics of adherence to methadone maintenance treatment over a 15-year period among homeless adults experiencing mental illness. *Addictive Behaviors Reports*, 6, 106–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abrep.2017.09.001; Wyant, B. E., Karon, S. S., & Pfefferle, S. G., supra note 86.
- <sup>88</sup> Baggett, T. P., Hwang, S. W., O'Connell, J. J., Porneala, B. C., Stringfellow, E. J., Orav, E. J., Singer, D. E., & Rigotti, N. A. (2013). Mortality among homeless adults in Boston: shifts in causes of death over a 15-year period. *JAMA Internal Medicine, 173*(3), 189–195. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.1604
- 89 Wyant, B. E., Karon, S. S., & Pfefferle, S. G., supra note 86.
- 90 42 U.S.C. § 1437d(I)(6); see also 24 C.F.R. § 960.204(a)(2)(i)
- <sup>91</sup> See Department of Housing and Urban Development v. Rucker, 535 U.S. 125 (2002) (holding that public housing authorities have the discretion to evict a tenant when a member of the household or guest engages in drug-related activity, even if the tenant did not know).
- <sup>92</sup> Wis. Stat. § 704.17(3m)(b) (in Wisconsin, a landlord may evict a tenant "if the tenant, a member of the tenant's household, or a guest or other invitee of the tenant or of a member of the tenant's household... engages in any drug-related criminal activity on or near the premises."); 765 ILCS 705/5 (In Illinois, a landlord may terminate a tenant's lease if a person is charged with possession with intent to deliver and probable cause for the arrest is established).
- <sup>93</sup> National Low Income Housing Coalition. (2020, April 27). *HUD PIH posts guidance about CARES Act eviction moratorium*. https://nlihc.org/resource/hud-pih-posts-guidance-about-cares-act-eviction-moratorium
- 94 Wyant, B. E., Karon, S. S., & Pfefferle, S. G., supra note 86 at 24.
- <sup>95</sup> Registration Requirements for Narcotic Treatment Programs with Mobile Components, 85 Fed. Reg. 11008 (proposed Feb. 26, 2020). The Drug Enforcement Administration has temporarily authorized existing OTPs to utilize the same off-site location for mobile provision of OAT, but his only applies for take-home medications. See Drug Enforcement Administration. (2020). Use of Unregistered Off-Site Locations in MAT. <a href="https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/GDP/(DEA-DC-025)(DEA078)">https://www.deadiversion.usdoj.gov/GDP/(DEA-DC-025)(DEA078)</a> Off-site OTP deliverymethod (Final)+ esign.pdf. Many people are required to come daily to receive their medication under supervision, so this will not likely benefit them.
- <sup>96</sup> Brownstone, S. (2019, August 12). It's hard to get drug treatment while homeless. King County wants to change that. Seattle Times. <a href="https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/homeless/king-county-plans-to-bring-drug-treatment-to-homeless-shelters-and-encampments/">https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/homeless/king-county-plans-to-bring-drug-treatment-to-homeless-shelters-and-encampments/</a>
- <sup>97</sup> Chatterjee, A., Obando, A., Strickland, E., Nestler, A., Harrington-Levey, R., Williams, T., & LaCoursiere-Zucchero, T. (2017). Shelter-Based Opioid Treatment: Increasing Access to Addiction Treatment in a Family Shelter. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(7), 1092–1094. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303786
- <sup>98</sup> Smith, G. B. (2020, April 26). Methadone delivered direct to homeless and other isolated New Yorkers. *The City.* https://www.thecity.nyc/health/2020/4/26/21247076/methadone-delivered-direct-to-homeless-and-other-isolated-new-yorkers
- <sup>99</sup> Feldman, N. (2018, September 12). Many 'recovery houses' won't let residents use medicine to quit opioids. NPR. https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2018/09/12/644685850/many-recovery-houses-wont-let-residents-use-medicine-to-quit-opioids
- <sup>100</sup> Tsemberis, S., Gulcur, L., & Nakae, M. (2004). Housing First, consumer choice, and harm reduction for homeless individuals with a dual diagnosis. *American Journal of Public Health*, *94*(4), 651–656. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.94.4.651">https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.94.4.651</a>
- <sup>101</sup> Horn, B. P., Joshi, A., & Maclean, J. C. (2019). Substance Use Disorder Treatment Centers and Property Values. National Bureau of Economic Research. <a href="https://www.nber.org/papers/w25427.pdf">https://www.nber.org/papers/w25427.pdf</a>
- 102 Cal. Gov't Code § 65583; Fla. Stat. § 163.3177(6)(f).

- 103 Mass. Gen. Laws, ch. 40B, §§ 20-22 (https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/Partl/TitleVII/Chapter40B) (known as the "anti-snob" zoning law); New Jersey Fair Housing Act, N.J.S.A. §§ 52:27D-301-329.9 (implementing state constitutional mandate for local governments to accommodate their fair share of its region's present and prospective needs for housing for low and moderate income families in their zoning regulations, established in South Burlington County NAACP v. Mount Laurel, 67 N.J. 151 (1975) and South Burlington County NAACP v. Mount Laurel, 92 N.J. 158 (1983)) (https://lis.njleg.state.nj.us/nxt/gateway.dll?f=templates&fn=default.htm&vid=Publish:10.1048/Enu).
- 104 Cal. Gov't Code § 65583(a)(4).
- <sup>105</sup> New Directions Treatment Servs. v. City of Reading, 490 F.3d 293, 304-05 (3d Cir. 2007); MX Group, Inc. v. City of Covington, 293 F.3d 326 (6th Cir. 2002); Potomac Grp. Home Corp. v. Montgomery Cty., 823 F. Supp. 1285, 1296 (D. Md. 1993).
- <sup>106</sup> See Syed, S. T., Gerber, B. S., & Sharp, L. K. (2013). Traveling towards disease: transportation barriers to health care access. *Journal of community health*, *38*(5), 976–993. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-013-9681-1">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-013-9681-1</a>
- <sup>107</sup> Rapp, R. C., Xu, J., Carr, C. A., Lane, D. T., Wang, J., & Carlson, R. (2006). Treatment barriers identified by substance abusers assessed at a centralized intake unit. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 30(3), 227–235. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2006.01.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2006.01.002</a>
- <sup>108</sup> Rosenblum, A., Cleland, C. M., Fong, C., Kayman, D. J., Tempalski, B., & Parrino, M. (2011). Distance traveled and cross-state commuting to opioid treatment programs in the United States. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 2011*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/948789
- 109 See Registration Requirements for Narcotic Treatment Programs With Mobile Components, supra note 95.
- <sup>110</sup> See Drug Enforcement Administration, *supra* note 95.
- <sup>111</sup> See Registration Requirements for Narcotic Treatment Programs With Mobile Components, supra note 95.
- <sup>112</sup> Medical Transportation Access Coalition. (2018) The value of Medicaid's transportation benefit: Results of a return on investment survey. <a href="https://mtaccoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/NEMT-ROI-Study-Results-One-Pager.pdf">https://mtaccoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/NEMT-ROI-Study-Results-One-Pager.pdf</a>
- <sup>113</sup> Kentucky Health. (2016). *Helping to Engage and Achieve Long Term Health*. <a href="https://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ky/ky-health-pa3.pdf">https://www.medicaid.gov/Medicaid-CHIP-Program-Information/By-Topics/Waivers/1115/downloads/ky/ky-health-pa3.pdf</a>
- <sup>114</sup> Myers, A. (2015, January 7). Non-Emergency Medical Transportation: A Vital Lifeline for a Healthy Community. National Council of State Legislators. <a href="https://www.ncsl.org/research/transportation/non-emergency-medical-transportation-a-vital-lifeline-for-a-healthy-community.aspx">https://www.ncsl.org/research/transportation/non-emergency-medical-transportation-a-vital-lifeline-for-a-healthy-community.aspx</a>
- <sup>115</sup> A public health emergency: West Virginia's efforts to curb the opioid crisis. 116th Cong. (2020) (testimony of Christina Mullins). Retrieved July 20, 2020 from <a href="https://energycommerce.house.gov/sites/democrats.energycommerce.house.gov/files/documents/Testimony%20-%20Mullins%20%28WV%29%202020114.pdf">https://energycommerce.house.gov/files/documents/Testimony%20-%20Mullins%20%28WV%29%2020200114.pdf</a>
- <sup>116</sup> National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2017). *Digest of impaired driving and selected beverage control laws,* 30th edition, Current as of December 31, 2015. <a href="https://www.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.dot.gov/files/documents/812394-digest-of-impaired-driving-and-selected-beverage-control-laws.pdf">https://dww.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.dot.gov/files/documents/812394-digest-of-impaired-driving-and-selected-beverage-control-laws.pdf</a>; Findlaw. (2018, October 24). *Driving under the influence of drugs*. <a href="https://dui.findlaw.com/dui-charges/driving-under-the-influence-of-drugs.html">https://dui.findlaw.com/dui-charges/driving-under-the-influence-of-drugs.html</a>
- <sup>117</sup> Legal Action Center. (2016). *Driving on Methadone or Buprenorphine (Suboxone): DUI?*. <a href="https://www.lac.org/assets/files/Driving-on-Methadone-or-Suboxone-DUI.pdf">https://www.lac.org/assets/files/Driving-on-Methadone-or-Suboxone-DUI.pdf</a>
- 118 23 U.S.C. § 159(a)(3)(A).
- <sup>119</sup> List of Section 159 Certifications Summary-FY 2019, Federal Highway Administration, 2019, received by Wisconsin Department of Transportation. (The lists of complying and non-complying states are not officially published by FHWA).
- <sup>120</sup> Lococo, K. H., Stutts, J., Sifrit, K. J., & Staplin, L. (2017). *Medical review practices for driver licensing, Volume 3: Guidelines and processes in the United States.* National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. <a href="https://www.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.dot.gov/files/documents/812402\_medicalreviewdriverlicense.pdf">https://www.nhtsa.gov/sites/nhtsa.dot.gov/files/documents/812402\_medicalreviewdriverlicense.pdf</a>; see e.g., Cal. Veh. Code § 12806.
- <sup>121</sup> Moyer, J. Wm. (2017, September 26). Millions of drivers lost their licenses for failing to pay court fees, study finds. Washington Post. <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/trafficandcommuting/millions-of-drivers-lost-their-licenses-for-failing-to-pay-court-fees-study-finds/2017/09/25/c495aed6-9f01-11e7-84fb-b4831436e807\_story.html; Wisconsin Division of Motor Vehicles. (2018). Revocations and suspensions by reason of conviction, January–December 2018. <a href="https://wisconsindot.gov/Documents/about-wisdot/newsroom/statistics/factsfig/revsus-statistics.pdf">https://wisconsindot.gov/Documents/about-wisdot/newsroom/statistics/factsfig/revsus-statistics.pdf</a>
- <sup>122</sup> National Conference of State Legislatures. (2019, September 4). *License restrictions for failure to pay child support*. https://www.ncsl.org/research/human-services/license-restrictions-for-failure-to-pay-child-support.aspx
- <sup>123</sup> Id.; Salas, M., & Ciolfi, A. (2017). Driven by dollars, A state-by-state analysis of driver's license suspension laws for failure to pay court debt. Legal Aid Justice Center. https://www.justice4all.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Driven-by-Dollars.pdf

- <sup>124</sup> American Public Transportation Association. (n.d.). *Public Transportation Facts*. Retrieved February 7, 2020 from <a href="https://www.apta.com/news-publications/public-transportation-facts/">https://www.apta.com/news-publications/public-transportation-facts/</a>
- 125 Loewen, J. W. (2006). Sundown towns: A hidden dimension of American racism. Touchstone.
- <sup>126</sup> Saloner, B., Feder, K. A., & Krawczyk, N. (2017). Closing the Medication-Assisted Treatment Gap for Youth With Opioid Use Disorder. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 171(8), 729–731. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.1269
- <sup>127</sup> Ellis, M. S., Kasper, Z. A., & Cicero, T. J. (2020). The impact of opioid use disorder on levels of educational attainment: Perceived benefits and consequences. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 206. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107618">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107618</a>
- 128 Id., citing Cleveland, H. H., Harris, K. S., Baker, A. K., Herbert, R., & Dean, L. R. (2007). Characteristics of a collegiate recovery community: maintaining recovery in an abstinence-hostile environment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 33*(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2006.11.005 (SUD is considered a cultural/social norm); Perron, B. E., Grahovac, I. D., Uppal, J. S., Granillo, M. T., Shutter, J., & Porter, C. A. (2011). Supporting Students in Recovery on College Campuses: Opportunities for Student Affairs Professionals. *Journal of student Affairs Research and Practice, 48*(1), 47–64. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3134882/ (increased independence and freedom, pressures of academic achievement balanced with social and employment opportunities), and Harries, M. D., Lust, K., Christenson, G. A., Redden, S. A., & Grant, J. E. (2018). Prescription opioid medication misuse among university students. *The American Journal on Addictions, 27*(8), 618–624. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12807
- 129 Ellis, supra note 127.
- <sup>130</sup> O'Malley P. (2020). Medication assisted therapy (MAT) for opioid use disorder (OUD) in youth improves outcomes and saves lives. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 23(3), 77. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2018-103053">https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2018-103053</a>
- 131 Saloner, supra note 126.
- <sup>132</sup> American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Substance Use and Prevention. Medication-Assisted Treatment of Adolescents With Opioid Use Disorders. (2016). *Pediatrics*, *138*(3). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1893">https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1893</a>; Feder, K. A., Krawczyk, N., & Saloner, B. (2017). Medication-Assisted Treatment for Adolescents in Specialty Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, *60*(6), 747–750. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.023">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.023</a>
- 133 42 C.F.R. 8.12(e)(2).
- <sup>134</sup> Camenga, D. R., Colon-Rivera, H. A., & Muvvala, S. B. (2019). Medications for Maintenance Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder in Adolescents: A Narrative Review and Assessment of Clinical Benefits and Potential Risks. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 80(4), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2019.80.393
- 135 42 C.F.R. 8.12(e)(2).
- <sup>136</sup> Id.
- <sup>137</sup> Field, K. (2018, September 13). *A new challenge for colleges: opioid-addicted students*. Hechinger Report. https://hechingerreport.org/a-new-challenge-for-colleges-opioid-addicted-students/
- <sup>138</sup> Community Catalyst. (2019). Leveraging the Every Student Succeeds Act for substance use prevention to improve young people's lives. <a href="https://www.communitycatalyst.org/resources/publications/document/CC-ESSAResourceForEditorialCalendar-Final-5.20.19.pdf">https://www.communitycatalyst.org/resources/publications/document/CC-ESSAResourceForEditorialCalendar-Final-5.20.19.pdf</a>
- <sup>139</sup> American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Substance Use and Prevention. Substance Use Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment. (2016). *Pediatrics*, 138(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1210
- <sup>140</sup> American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Substance Use and Prevention, *supra* note 134, at 35.
- 141 Camenga, supra note 134, at 36.
- <sup>142</sup> Id.
- <sup>143</sup> Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Association. (2020, April 29). *Medication and counseling treatment*. <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/treatment">https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/treatment</a>; Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020, April 29). *Employment*. <a href="https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/hpr-resources/employment">https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/hpr-resources/employment</a>
- 144 42 U.S.C. § 12114(b).
- <sup>145</sup> 42 U.S.C. §§ 12111–12117; *Volvo Group North American to pay \$70,000 to settle EEOC Disability Discrimination Suit.* (2018, January 19). U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. <a href="https://www.eeoc.gov/newsroom/volvo-group-north-america-pay-70000-settle-eeoc-disability-discrimination-suit">https://www.eeoc.gov/newsroom/volvo-group-north-america-pay-70000-settle-eeoc-disability-discrimination-suit</a>
- <sup>146</sup> Hussey Copper to pay \$85,000 to settle EEOC disability discrimination lawsuit. (2011, February 11). U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. <a href="https://www.eeoc.gov/newsroom/hussey-copper-pay-85000-settle-eeoc-disability-discrimination-lawsuit">https://www.eeoc.gov/newsroom/hussey-copper-pay-85000-settle-eeoc-disability-discrimination-lawsuit</a>
- 147 29 U.S.C. § 2612.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Serious Health Condition—Leave for Treatment of Substance Abuse. (n.d.). U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved July 20, 2020, from <a href="https://webapps.dol.gov/elaws/whd/fmla/10c9.aspx">https://webapps.dol.gov/elaws/whd/fmla/10c9.aspx</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Cal. Labor Code § 1025.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Frequently asked questions: What Is an Employee Assistance Program (EAP)? U.S. Office of Personnel Management. (n.d.). Retrieved July 20, 2020, from <a href="https://www.opm.gov/FAQs/QA.aspx?fid=4313c618-a96e-4c8e-b078-1f76912a10d9&pid=2c2b1e5b-6ff1-4940-b478-34039a1e1174">https://www.opm.gov/FAQs/QA.aspx?fid=4313c618-a96e-4c8e-b078-1f76912a10d9&pid=2c2b1e5b-6ff1-4940-b478-34039a1e1174</a>

<sup>151</sup> Study proves high return on EAP investment. (2014, December 11). BJC EAP. https://www.bjceap.com/blog/ArtMID/448/ArticleID/140/Study-Proves-High-Return-on-EAP-Investment; Sagor, M. (2014, May 7). Calculating the value of an Employee Assistance Program (EAP) from a CFO perspective. Comprehensive EAP. https://compeap.com/calculating-the-value-of-an-employee-assistance-program-eap-from-a-cfo-perspective/#:~:text=What%20does%20all%20this%20research,%241%20 invested%20in%20EAP%20services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Agovino, T. (2019, November 21). Companies seek to boost low usage of Employee Assistance Programs. Society for Human Resource Management. <a href="https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/news/hr-magazine/winter2019/pages/companies-seek-to-boost-low-usage-of-employee-assistance-programs.aspx">https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/news/hr-magazine/winter2019/pages/companies-seek-to-boost-low-usage-of-employee-assistance-programs.aspx</a> (less than 6 percent of employees used an EAP in 2018).